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Financial Summary
MR ERBE

A summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and non- AEEBEREVRFEEZETEEE & BER
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years SRS -
is as follows:
s
RESULTS R
Year ended 31 December
HET-A=1+—-HLEE
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—B-=f "T-_—f C"T——F C"T-TF C"ITTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT ARETT AR%®TR ARETR
(Restated) ~ (Restated)  (Restated)
(g =5) (fe=51) (g =7))
Revenue W 634,171 498,834 556,868 543,716 392,505
Cost of sales HHER AR (501,659) (400,622) (436,163) (417,291) (307,378)
Gross profit EF 132,512 98,212 120,705 126,425 85,127
Other income and expenses, HpW A RFY -
other gains and losses HibUees REE 31,168 5,979 53,212 4,224 7,926
Selling and distribution expenses  $8& &5 5 (37,678) (25,575) (24,236) (23,319) (17,762)
Research and development L
expenditure (19,284) (17,600) (17,743) (16,299) (13,348)
Administrative expenses G2 Gib3 (44,314) (36,483) (32,817) (29,309) (18,964)
Listing expenses iaiileha = - (14,908) (2,699) =
Finance costs BB A (13,654) (13,317) (15,113) (14,921) (10,975)
Profit before tax MR AT A 48,750 11,216 69,100 44,202 32,004
Taxation BiE (9,455) (3,794) (12,207 (6,666) (3,629)
Net profit el 39,295 7,422 56,893 37,536 28,375
Other comprehensive expense: HM2mAY :
Exchange difference arising on BREFELEY
translation =R (265) (207) = = =
Profit attributable to: PATR AL REMGISF
Equity holders of the Company AREREREA 39,030 7,215 56,893 37,536 28,229
Non-controlling interests JEPRRR = - - _ 146
Eamings per share — Basic (RMB) Sk &H —EA
(AR#) 0.11 0.02 0.23 0.16 0.12

REBE-Z—=F+-A=T—BILFEHH
BROZHNFER - ALRIIZEE2H
YRR P RIER X B A B AR 2UETES -

Note: To conform with the presentation of the financial statements for year % -
ended 31 December 2013, warranty expenses in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income shown above have been
restated on the same basis.

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
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As at 31 December

R+=—R=t-H

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

=2-=Ff T -fF ZIZT—% ZT-TF ZTTNF

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TR AR%®Trt AREBTT ARETT AR®ET

Non-current assets FERBEE 683,817 561,344 449,026 318,711 204,787

Current assets MEEE 501,588 384,047 455,521 411,191 544,160

Total assets BEME 1,185,405 945,391 904,547 729,902 748,947

Current liabilities mEaRE (655,080) (580,024) (462,911) (614,919) (585,454)

Total assets less current liabilities  ZEELZEMTZHEE 530,325 365,367 441,636 114,983 163,493

Non-current liabilities FRBEE (143,464) (83,828) (167,312) (48,728) (45,013)

Owner's equity A N NER 386,861 281,539 274,324 66,255 118,480

Non-controlling interests JEIERRRERS = - _ _ _
Equity attributable to owners AREEBA

of the Company [fEfL R 386,861 281,539 274,324 66,255 118,480

The financial information for each of the two years ended 31
December 2010 has been prepared upon the Reorganisation (as
defined in the Prospectus) as if the group structure, at the time
when the Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange, had been
in existence throughout the years concerned. The results for
each of the two years ended 31 December 2010, and the assets,

liabilities and non — controlling interests as at 31 December B RBA%
2009 and 2010 have been extracted from the Prospectus.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear valued shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2013.

While Europe and the United States experienced a gradual economic recovery in 2013, China maintained a steady
economic growth. By having captured the opportunity of the resumed growth reappearing in the automobile
industry in China, the Group distinguished itself in the highly competitive automotive component market by its
industrial leading technology, aggressive marketing strategy, strong research and development capacities and
consistent cost advantage. With the excellent performance in the results of the year, the Group recorded a
significant increase in revenue and operating profit, and maintained the leading position in the industry.

Looking back into 2013, in accordance with the strategic orientation and plan for the development of the Group,
the Group adhered to cooperating with automakers to develop new types of vehicles meanwhile carrying out
synchronized research and development of shock-absorber products in the domestic OEM market. Together
with the unremitting efforts in market expanding, the number of new orders that the Group acquired from certain
automakers increased significantly. While developing and launching new products, the Group adopted proactive
marketing strategies and accelerated expanding distribution channels in the domestic after-sales market, which
resulted in a satisfactory growth in this market segment.

Furthermore, the Company invested and established an industrial acquisition fund in November 2013 so as to
capture the development opportunities emerged in the automotive component market in China, to expand the
business scale and assets portfolio of the Group as well as to achieve synergy of businesses and long term
sound development of the Group.

Looking forward to 2014, the Group will follow the trend of market development, strive to achieve the strategic
layout and further consolidate the foundation for its long-term development. The Group will expand production
facilities and enhance production capacity and efficiency through staged construction and investment; enhance
market share by expanding customer base and entering new market segments; and increase its efforts in
improving the level of research and development and production technology of the product in an attempt to
strengthen its core competitive edges. The Group will maintain its existing cost advantages by capitalization
on the effectiveness of the economies of scale and optimization of production management system and
technological advance. The Group will also capture the market pulse and the huge opportunities from railway
shock-absorber market. Moreover, the Group will conduct an ongoing improvement on its layout of the
automotive component industry chain and achieve a sustainable growth in its business and scale by ways of
investment in, combination or merger and acquisition of domestic and overseas automotive component business
and the relevant assets from the perspective of the Group’s overall strategic development.

| would like to extend my sincere greetings to our Shareholders, the Group’s management and all staff, and express
my heartfelt gratitude to all Shareholders, members of the Board, all government officials, all our customers and
business partners for their generous support and trust. VWe are adhering closely to our commitment to lay a solid
foundation for the long-term development of the Group and to further capitalize on unique edges of automotive
component in the PRC and capture market opportunities, thereby bringing greater investment returns for the
shareholders as a whole.

Wilson SEA
Chairman and Non-executive Director
28 March 2014

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
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Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEFWE TN

Chief Executive Officer's Statement:

“In 2013, the economies of the developed markets as Europe
and the United States recovered gradually while that of the
PRC maintained a stable growth. Benefiting from the recovery
in the PRC automobile market and the unremitting efforts of all
staff of the Group, we had achieved outstanding performance
and significant income growth in both domestic OEM market
and domestic after-sales market segments. With the long-
term development of the domestic automobile industry, we
will grasp new opportunities from the automotive component
industry in the PRC, and step up our efforts in furtherance of
the Group's long-term development by strategies, and create
maximum value for the Shareholders by leveraging on the
technology innovation and its brand advantages.”

Mr. Zhao Zhijun,
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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INTRODUCTION

Engaged in the research and development, design,
manufacturing and sale of various automobile shock-absorbers,
the Group has over 50 years of experience in the automobile
industry. After many years of development, the Group has
become a leading independent supplier of automobile shock-
absorbers in the PRC and established stable long-term business
relationship with leading automobile manufacturers in the PRC,
including FAW-Volkswagen, Chery, Haima Auto, Dongfeng
Automobile, Beijing Automobile, Changan Automobile,
Chongging Lifan, Geely, Jianghuai Automobile, SAIC Motor and
Dongfeng Peugeot.

MARKET REVIEW

In 2013, the automobile industry of China underwent an
upturn in growth. For the year ended 31 December 2013, the
sales volume of automobiles in the PRC was approximately
21,984,100 units, representing an increase of approximately
13.87% over the corresponding period of 2012 (Source: China
Association of Automobile Manufacturers). With close link
to the automobile manufacturing industry, the automotive
component industry reaped the benefits. As the Group carried
out research and development of shock-absorbers for the
new models of automobiles with automobile manufacturers
over the years, the Group was able to secure purchase orders
of automotive components from automobile manufacturers.
Meanwhile, the domestic consumer price index in the PRC
increased recently along with rising costs of labour and raw
materials to varying extent, which continues to expose the
Group to the pressure of cost control.

The Group’s main products are shock-absorbers for various
types of vehicles and are mainly sold to domestic OEM Market
and domestic after-sales market customers. The Group
sold approximately 5,602,000 units of automobile shock-
absorbers for the year ended 31 December 2013, representing
a growth of approximately 1,180,000 units or approximately
26.7% over the corresponding period last year. The Group's
revenue amounted to approximately RMB634.2 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB135.3 million or
approximately 27.1% over the corresponding period last year.
Profit attributable to shareholders amounted to approximately
RMB39.3 million, representing an upsurge of RMB31.9 million
or 431.1% over the corresponding period last year. For the year
ended 31 December 2013, basic earnings per share amounted
to RMBO0.11. For the year ended 31 December 2013, in
terms of principal business segments, domestic OEM Market
business achieved a sales income of approximately RMB565.4
million, accounting for approximately 89.2% of the total income,
while the domestic automobile aftermarket business achieved a
sales income of approximately RMB68.8 million, accounting to
approximately 10.8% of the total income.

mE
AEBMEIEXB AR  Ret - EENBEES
BEEBRS  EXEAHAFBBOFNESL R
K5 KBZFNER  AEECKKNATEE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREN W R D

DOMESTIC OEM MARKET

In 2013, with the automobile industry of China undergoing an
upturn in growth and as a result of the Group’s research and
development of products for the new model of automobiles
with automobile manufacturers over the years, orders for
certain of the Group’s new products started to rise. For the
year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's sales volume
of shock-absorbers in the domestic OEM Market amounted
to approximately 4,693,000 units, representing a growth of
approximately 951,000 units or 25.4% over the corresponding
period of 2012. Under this background, the sales income
derived from the domestic OEM Market for the year ended 31
December 2013 amounted to approximately RMB565.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately RMB120.3 million or
approximately 27.0% over the corresponding period of 2012.

DOMESTIC AFTER-SALES MARKET

The Group stepped up its efforts to expand its after-sales
market and developed new products. With unremitting
dedication to the development of the after-sales market, the
sales volume of the Group recorded considerable growth. For
the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's sales income
derived from the domestic after-sales market amounted to
approximately RMB68.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB15.1 million or approximately 28.1% over
the corresponding period of 2012, which was mainly driven by
the growth in sales volume. For the year ended 31 December
2013, the Group's sales volume generated from the aftermarket
was approximately 909,000 units, increased by approximately
229,000 units or approximately 33.7% over the corresponding
period of 2012.
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OUTLOOK

The automobile market in the PRC showed a strong upturn
trend in 2013 after a prolonged slowdown in 2011 and 2012.
From the macro perspective, to maintain steady and moderate
economic growth, the PRC government has continued to
implement strategic measures to stimulate domestic demand,
and has continued to adjust the structure of the relevant
businesses based on its industrial revitalization plan. As one
of the ten industries under the industrial revitalization plan,
the organizational structure of the automobile industry will be
optimized and improved, thereby driving the consumption of
automobiles as well as facilitating the recovery and long-term
development of the domestic automobile market. The Group is
confident about the prospects of the automobile industry in the
PRC.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on its business
in the domestic OEM Market in the PRC to reinforce its
current leading position in the industry. Meanwhile, it will
rapidly increase its market share in the domestic after-sales
market and aggressively expand into overseas markets. It is
the Group's long-term strategy to develop and strengthen
its leading position in the international OEM Market and the
domestic after-sales market.

The Group aims to achieve these objectives by implementing
the following strategies:

(i) Expanding production facilities and enhancing
production technologies and efficiency
In order to achieve its aim of expanding the product range,
market share and new business coverage, the Group will
expand its production facilities and enhance production
capacity through phased construction and investment by
stages. Currently, the Group has three major production
bases in Nanyang City of Henan Province, Haikou City
of Hainan Province and Ordos City of Inner Mongolia
respectively, which have a total annual production capacity
of approximately 15,000,000 units of automobile shock-
absorbers. Meanwhile, the Group will also increase the
ancillary production capacity of major components such as
piston rods, storage tanks and working cylinders so as to
maintain its production quality and cost advantage as well as
minimize its dependence on component suppliers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREN W R D

(i) BAMBEFRHFNTESN  BRETS

(ii) Gaining new customers and opening up new

market segments to increase market share

The Group will continue to supply quality, reliable and high-
standard products to existing key customers and further
strengthen its capabilities to supply those customers with
shock-absorbers for new car models, thus increasing
its market share in the PRC. In addition, the Group will
continue to expand its customer base and capture new
customers, including overseas OEM Markets who purchase
automobile parts and components in the PRC.

At the end of 2012, the civil automobile ownership in
the PRC was already over 120,000,000 (source: National
Bureau of Statistics of the People’'s Republic of China).
The lifetime of automobile shock-absorbers is generally
around two years. Accordingly, it is expected that the
demand for shock-absorbers in the automobile after-sales
market will be significant. For the year ended 31 December
2013, the sales amount in the automobile after-sales
market accounted for approximately 10.8% of the Group's
revenue. The Group will continuously strive to develop
the automobile after-sales market and further increase its
market share therein quickly establishing a nation-wide
distribution network.

(iii)Enhancing the standard of research and

development and technologies to strengthen
competitiveness

The Group once again obtained the honour of “National
New High-tech Enterprises” in January 2013. The Group
also obtained approval from the Henan Province Science
and Technology Department (i & RIE2 K fiTEE) to
establish the Technology Research Centre for Shock
Absorbers Engineering in Henan Province (AlFA& /TR & IR
22 T2 AT A 751 03). Pursuant to the approval, the Group
will establish a new domestic research and development
centre. Coupled with its overseas research and
development centre in Asti, Italy in 2012, not only will the
Group's overall research and development capability, level
of technologies and reputation be substantially enhanced,
but also will its corporate image as well as the popularity
of its products in the PRC, Europe and North America be
improved.
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(iv) Maintaining cost advantages

(v)

The Group will strive to capitalize on the effectiveness
of the economies of scale for more flexible procurement
terms and lower procurement costs through optimizing the
scale of production and product research and development.
Meanwhile, the Group will maintain its edge on production
cost and raise profit margin by improving its capability
and standard of self-produced key component production
through upgraded production lines, higher level of
automation and simplified production processes.

Developing the shock absorber market for railway
transportation (high speed rails)

Along with the PRC’'s rapid economic growth over
the years, railway transportation in the PRC has made
remarkable achievements, bringing huge potential to
the development of the railway shock-absorber market,
especially high speed rails which have a higher demand
for shock absorbers. Through years of research and
development and testing, the Group completed a trial run of
railway shock-absorbers. Currently, the Group is proactively
seeking to obtain approval from relevant authorities to
become a qualified supplier and repairer of railway shock-
absorbers. The Group believes that railway transportation
(including high speed rails) will become a market with
tremendous growth potential, strong profits and high entry
barriers. Once qualified, the Group will be able to actively
participate in the development of railway transportation and
capture massive business opportunities arising from this
market.

(vi) Pursuing rapid growth through investments,

acquisitions and mergers

Based on the strategic deployment and development
needs, the Group will take advantage of its strong industrial
base and in-depth expertise to aggressively seek for
investment opportunities, and to conduct acquisition and
merger of the automobile component business and relevant
assets in the PRC or overseas markets, so as to enhance
synergies for its business, rapidly grow the business or
achieve significant return on capital.

The Group strongly believes that by implementing the
above strategies, it will be able to further maintain and
strengthen its competitive edge and consolidate its leading
position in the market, which will in turn fully satisfy the
rising demand of products and services and increasingly
stringent product requirements from customers, grasp
growth opportunities arising from market changes, and
create long-term value for shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EREN W R D

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group’s revenue
increased by approximately 27.1% to approximately RMB634.2
million from approximately RMB498.8 million in 2012, of which
revenue from the OEM Market rose by approximately 27.0% to
approximately RMB565.4 million from approximately RMB445.1
million in 2012. Revenue generated from the automobile
aftermarket jumped by approximately 28.1% to approximately
RMB68.8 million from approximately RMB53.7 million in 2012.
Such increase was primarily due to the Group’s continuous
efforts to cope with the simultaneous product development
with automobile manufacturers and strive to explore sales in
the after-sales market in an active manner.

The table below shows an analysis of the Group’s sales volume,
average selling price and revenue by its business segments for
each of the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013:
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Average
2013 —E—-=f Sales volume selling price Revenue
fHE FHHEEE &
(Units) (RMB) (RMB’000)
(1) (ARHE) (AR¥T )
OEM Market [RFEBEER TS 4,692,710 120.5 565,403
Automobile after-sales market — JRE&ETE 908,901 75.7 68,768
Total = 5,601,611 634,171
Average
2012 —E——4F Sales volume selling price Revenue
HE T HE B &
(Units) (RMB) (RMB'000)
(1) (ARH) (ARBFIT)
OEM Market REBRIER TS 3,742,008 119.0 445,137
Automobile after-sales market  JFEH&EE TS 679,801 79.0 53,697
Total a5t 4,421,809 498,834
Cost of sales THER A
During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group’s cost REBE=Z—=F+"A=+—HI-FEHH
of sales increased by approximately 25.2% to approximately  AN&EEZEEKAR - ——FHARKE40068

RMB501.7 million from approximately RMB400.6 million
in 2012. Cost of sales for the OEM market increased by
approximately 23.8% to approximately RMB449.3 million
from approximately RMB362.8 million in 2012. Such increase
was mainly due to higher sales volume. Cost of sales for the
automobile after-sales market increased by approximately
38.4% to approximately RMB52.3 million from approximately
RMB37.8 million in 2012. Such increase was mainly driven by
the growth of business and increase in production costs.
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Gross profit

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the overall gross
profit increased by approximately 34.9% to approximately
RMB132.5 million from approximately RMB98.2 million in the
financial year ended 31 December 2012.

Gross profit for the OEM Market

The gross profit of the Group increased by approximately 41%
from approximately RMB82.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2012 to approximately RMB116.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2013. Such increase was mainly due
to an increase in revenue.

Gross profit for the automobile aftermarket

The gross profit of the Group rose by approximately 3.1%
from approximately RMB15.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2012 to approximately RMB16.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2013. Such increase was mainly due to
the offset of the rise in revenue generated from the automobile
after-sales market by higher increase in costs.

The table below shows an analysis of the Group’s revenue,
gross profit and gross profit margin by its business segments
for each of the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013:
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Gross profit

2013 —E-=F Revenue Gross profit margin
g EF EF=E

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AR®T ) (AE®T )
OEM Market REREE TS 565,403 116,072 20.5%
Automobile after-sales market  JAE&EE TS 68,768 16,440 23.9%
Total aEr 634,171 132,512 20.9%
Gross profit
2012 —ET——F Revenue Gross profit margin
Wz EF EAES

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)

(AE¥FT) (AR¥FT)
OEM Market HERER TS 445,137 82,300 18.5%
Automobile after-sales market  JFE&E&TIS 53,697 15,912 29.6%
Total AET 498,834 98,212 19.7%
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Gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the overall gross profit
margin increased by 1.2 percentage points to 20.9% from
19.7% in the year ended 31 December 2012. Such increase
was mainly due to rise of 2.0 percentage points in the gross
profit margin of our products in the OEM Market benefited
from the increase revenue, while the gross profit margin of the
automobile after-sales market dropped 5.7 percentage points
due to change of product portfolio.

Other income and expenses, other gains and losses
The other income and expenses, other gains and losses soared
from a gain of approximately RMB6.0 million in 2012 to a gain
of approximately RMB31.2 million in 2013, representing a
growth of approximately 420.0%. Such increase was mainly
because (i) the government grant received by the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, Nanyang Cijan in 2013 increased,
and (i) the provision for related trade and other receivables
decreased.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
47.3% from approximately RMB25.6 million in 2012 to
approximately RMB37.7 million in 2013. Such increase was
primarily due to an increase in sales volume of our products,
pushing up the transportation costs and the marketing
expenses of such products.

Research and development expenses

The research and development expenses rose by approximately
9.7% from approximately RMB17.6 million in 2012 to
approximately RMB19.3 million in 2013. Such increased
expenses were for (i) the enhancement on the research of
applying shock-absorber related technology for different model
of automobiles; and (ii) additional development costs of shock-
absorbers for newly-developed automobiles.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately 21.4%
from approximately RMB36.5 million in 2012 to approximately
RMB44.3 million in 2013. Such increase was mainly due to (i)
the increase in the wages, welfare, related social insurance
premium for administrative staff and expenditure on asset
insurance.
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Finance costs

The finance costs increased by 3.0% from RMB13.3 million in
2012 to RMB13.7 million in 2013. During 2013, approximately
RMB14.8 million (2012: RMB11.1 million) of the interest
expense in respect of the expansion project for Nanyang
Xichuan production base had been capitalized as property under
development.

Income tax expense

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group’s overall
income tax expense was approximately RMB9.5 million,
increased by RMB5.7 million or approximately 150.0% over
the year ended 31 December 2012. The increase in income tax
expense was mainly due to a significant increase in the amount
of taxable income generated by Nanyang Cijan Auto Shock
Absorber Co., Ltd.

Net profit for the year and net profit margin

Profit for the year recorded an upsurge of 431.1% from RMB7.4
million in 2012 to RMB39.3 million in 2013. The increase in the
Group’s net profit was mainly due to higher sales and gross
profit for the current period, as well as the substantial growth in
the above-mentioned other income.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net current liabilities

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s net current liabilities
decreased to approximately RMB153.5 million from
approximately RMB196.0 million as of 31 December 2012,
representing a drop of approximately 21.7%. Such decrease
was primarily due to the increase in cash and bank deposit as
a result of the considerable rise in revenue and net profits in
2013.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND BANK BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2013, the Group's total cash and bank
balances, most of which were denominated in RMB, amounted
to approximately RMB107.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 50.6% as compared with that of approximately
RMB71.3 million, most of which were denominated in RMB, as
at 31 December 2012. The increase was primarily attributable
to the growth in revenue and the cash recovery from the
operating activities.
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As at 31 December 2013, the Group's total borrowings
amounted to approximately RMB430.8 million, representing
an increase of approximately 24.4% as compared with
approximately RMB346.2 million as at 31 December 2012.
Out of the total borrowings, short-term bank borrowings due
within one year amounted to approximately RMB295.6 million,
representing an increase of approximately 8.6% as compared
with approximately RMB272.2 million as at 31 December 2012,
while mid-to-long-term borrowings due after one year amounted
to approximately RMB135.2 million, representing an increase
of approximately 82.7% as compared with approximately
RMB74.0 million as at 31 December 2012.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s gearing ratio, presented
as a percentage of total borrowings and bills payable divided by
total assets, was approximately 42.6% (2012: approximately
43.0%).

WORKING CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’'s gross inventories,
mainly comprising raw materials, work-in-progress and
finished products, amounted to approximately RMB83.8
million, representing an increase of approximately 5.4% from
approximately RMB79.5 million as at 31 December 2012. For
the year ended 31 December 2013, the average inventory
turnover days were 59.4 days (2012: 61.8 days). Inventory
turnover days were arrived at by dividing the mean of the
opening and ending balances of inventory for the same period
by cost of sales of the relevant period and multiplied by 365
days.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group's trade receivables
amounted to approximately RMB265.8 million, representing
an increase of approximately 34.0% from approximately
RMB198.4 million as at 31 December 2012. For the year
ended 31 December 2013, the average turnover days of trade
receivables were 133.6 days (2012: 138.8 days). The turnover
days of trade receivables in 2013 had no material changes from
that of last year.
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As at 31 December 2013, the Group's trade payables amounted
to approximately RMB205.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately 8.9% from approximately RMB188.5 million as at
31 December 2012. For the year ended 31 December 2013, the
average turnover days of trade payables were 143.2 days (2012:
164.5 days). Trade payable turnover days are calculated by using
the average of the beginning and ending trade payable balances
of the period, divided by cost of sales for the period and
multiplied by 365 days. The decrease in the turnover days of
trade payables was mainly because the relief of capital pressure
allowed the Group to reduce the payment cycle for suppliers in
order to improve the relationship with them and strive for long-
lasting and favourable cooperation conditions.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2013, capital expenditures
were approximately RMB80.8 million (2012: RMB112.4 million).
The Group's capital expenditures were primarily related to
an acquisition of land use rights, construction of production
facilities and purchase of plant, machinery and equipment for
the business expansion of its Nanyang Cijan production base.
The Group has been financing its capital expenditures primarily
through cash generated from operations and bank borrowings.

The Group will continue to expand its existing production
facilities and construct new plants and research and
development centres as part of its plan to expand production
facilities. As at 31 December 2013, the Group had capital
commitments for acquisition of plant and machinery of
approximately RMB27.9 million (2012: RMB13.4 million).

INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk on the variable interest rate of interest earned
from restricted bank balances and bank balances. The Group’s
borrowings are at fixed interest rates and therefore, are not
subject to fair value interest rate risk. No sensitivity analysis has
been prepared for restricted bank balances and bank balances as
the financial impact arising from the changes in interest rates
was minimal for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013.
The Group monitors its interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The businesses of the Group are located in the PRC, and its
major operating transactions are dominated in RMB. Most of
the assets and liabilities of the Group are dominated in RMB.
In addition to certain bank balances and other borrowings of
the Group, and certain professional payables dominated in
Hong Kong dollars and the United States dollars. Since RMB
is not freely convertible, there exists the risk that the PRC
government may implement measures to interfere with the
exchange rates, which in turn may have impact on the Group's
net asset value, profit and the dividends declared to the extent
that such dividends are subject to foreign exchange, and the
Group has no hedging measures against such exchange risks.
However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2013, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2013, (i) the Group’s certain buildings
and production equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB75.1 million (2012: approximately RMB38.5
million), and (ii) the Group’s leasehold land with a carrying
amount of approximately RMB64.2 million (2012: approximately
RMB88.9 million) were pledged to secure the Group's bank
loan facilities.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group's certain restricted bank
balances with a carrying amount of approximately RMB55.0
million (2012: approximately RMB45.0 million) were pledged
to secure the Group’s bank bills due within six months, which
were issued to suppliers as a pledge for the purchase of raw
materials by the Group.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the announcement in
relation to the subscription of new shares dated 24 April 2013, as
well as the announcement in relation to investment in limited
partnership dated 18 November 2013, the Group did not have
other plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Except for the investment in First Capital Automotive
Component Industry M&A Fund L.P. as set out in note 20 to
the financial statements of this Annual report, the Group did not
hold any significant investment as at 31 December 20183.

HUMAN RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group had 1,452
employees (2012: 1,418 employees) with total remuneration
and welfare benefits expenses amounted to approximately
RMB62.4 million (2012: RMB46.8 million). Details of the group’s
remuneration policy are set out in Directors’ report.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Zhao Zhijun (#%E), aged 39, was appointed as the chief
executive officer and an executive Director of the Company on
22 May 2011. Mr. Zhao Zhijun is the director of Plenty Venture.
He is also the director of 4 subsidiaries of the Company.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Zhao has over 8 years of
experience in finance and management in automobile shock
absorber industry. He is principally responsible for establishing
development strategy, making decision in respect of investment
projects and the general operation and management of the
Group.

Prior to joining the Group, he worked for office of the
commissioners and general office of Zhengzhou (Zp}N45E &
PWEFELRAE) of the China Securities Regulatory Commission
(hEHEEAFESEREES) from 1999 to 2002. In 2002, Mr.
Zhao served as a general manager of the sales department of
Minsheng Securities, Nanyang branch (R4 &5 5REEA A
FIR5 & Z 26) till 2005, responsible for overall management of
sales department and market development department. Mr.
Zhao graduated from Central South University (Ff &K &) with a
master degree in Philosophy in 2004.

Wang Wenbo (E X&), aged 39, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 22 May 2011. He is also
the deputy general manager of the Group and is in charge of
the research and development as well as technical and quality
control affairs of the Group. He joined the Group in 1995 and
served in various positions including deputy general technology
manager and deputy general sales manager. He has over 18
years of management experience in the areas of technology,
sales and quality control in the automobile shock absorber
industry. He is one of the inventors of two patents with respect
to restoration damping valve of hydraulic shock absorber (/B
IR 1E [RPAERI) and compression damping valve of hydraulic
shock absorber (&R k22 EEAERR/EM) currently possessed
by the Group. Mr. Wang graduated from Huazhong Polytechnic
University (Z/IE T K2) (later renamed as Huazhong
University of Science and Technology (ZEH &I KE)) with a
diploma in Mechanic Design and Test Technology in 1995.
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Yang Weixia (553 E), aged 37, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 22 May 2011. She is also the
deputy general manager of the Group and is principally in charge
of the Company’s purchase and human resource affairs. She
joined the Group in 2007 and served as the financial manager,
human resource manager, assistant to the general manager and
deputy general manager. Prior to joining the Group, she worked
in various positions in Minsheng Securities (R4 &5 BRE T
7~ 7A)) including office manager of the sales department, officer
in charge of the service department, deputy general manager
of sales department and Yinzheng business department (835
FEFEER) from 1998 to 2007. Ms. Yang graduated from Henan
College of Finance and Economics (i Eg A1 & £287) (later
renamed as Henan University of Finance and Economics (A
BT 48 B 3% K £2)) with a bachelor degree in Economics in 1998.
She was accredited as a medium level economist (0 4% 48 2 E)
by Ministry of Personnel of PRC in 2000.

WANG Ping (E£¥), aged 43, is the chief financial officer of
the Group and was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 1 April 2014. He has over 15 years of experience
in corporate finance, audit, accounting and taxation. He
joined the Group in December 2010 as senior vice president
of Guang Da (China) Automotive Components Holdings
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, responsible for investment
management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wang worked
as the vice president and later a director in EV Capital Pte Ltd.
during the period between May 2007 and March 2010. From
February 2004 to March 2007, he served as chief financial
officer for China Jishan Holdings Limited, the shares of which
are listed on the main board of Singapore Stock Exchange.
From September 1999 to August 2002, he served as a senior
accountant and subsequently a manager for audit department
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. Mr. Wang has been
an independent non-executive director of Chongyi Zhangyuan
Tungsten Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, since November 2010 and has been an independent
non-executive director of China Hanking Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3788) since February 2011. He has also been serving as
an independent non-executive director of China Tianrui Group
Cement Company Limited (Stock Code: 1252) and Shenzhen
Fuanna Bedding and Furnishing Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since December 2012
and December 2013 respectively. Mr. Wang graduated from
Nanjing University in 1993 and obtained a Master’'s Degree in
Business Administration from Lingnan (University) College of
Sun Yat-Sen University in 2004. He is a fellow member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wilson Sea (formerly known as Xi Chunying), aged 50, was
appointed as the chairman of the Board and non-executive
Director of the Company on 27 April 2011 and is responsible for
the general strategic planning and management of the Board.
Mr. Wilson Sea is the director of Wealth Max. He is also the
director of 2 subsidiaries of the Company. From 1997 to 2004,
Mr. Sea worked in Minsheng Securities (R4 &5 BR & T
/2 7)) as an assistant to president, president and chairman,
responsible for the investment banking business, the business
of research department, planning and development of the
company. From 2004 to 2007, he was the chairman of the
board of Kaifung City Lanwei Highway Development Company
Limited (AT HRANSR B ERARAF). Mr. Sea worked
as the vice-chairman of the board of Yubei (Xinxiang) Power
Steering System Co., Ltd. from 2007 and 2011. He has
also been appointed as the director of Nanyang Pukang
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (5 EEZAFEERE A 7)) since 2008
and as the chairman of the board of First Capital Management
Co., Ltd since 2012.

Mr. Sea obtained a bachelor degree in Economics from the
University of Henan (AT A228) in 1986. He further obtained a
master degree and a doctoral degree in Economics from Fudan
University (1§ B X228 in 1992 and 1995 respectively. He was
appointed as a professor by University of Henan (JAIFAE2) in
1995.

YAN Haiting (B3 %), aged 51, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director with effect from 1 April 2014. Mr. Yan joined
the Foreign Investment Department of the People’s Bank of
China (B A R4R7T9NMET) (the “PBC") in 1996 responsible for
the financial affairs of Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan, and was
transferred to the International Department of PBC (FF[E A K
$R1TEFE T)) in 1999 responsible for financial affairs of America.
From 2001 to 2002, he was seconded to HSBC United Kingdom
to learn corporate financial and asset management business. He
served as deputy director and later director in the International
Department of PBC from 2003 to 2005. From 2006 to 2010, he
was the chief representative of PBC of Europe, responsible for
the coordination and liaison with major economics in Europe,
policy study and submitting proposals to PBC and the State
Council of China regarding the formulation of and decisions in
economic and financial policies. From 2010 to 2013, he served
as the vice chairman and chief executive officer of Agriculture
Bank of China UK Limited, responsible for business and
market operations. Mr. Yan graduated from Henan University
majoring in English in 1988 and obtained a Master's Degree in
economics from Renmin University of China in 2001.
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Fu Pengxu ({¥#8), aged 56, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company on 22 May 2011. Mr. Fu
has over 22 years of experience in investment and industrial
management. From 1989 to 2002, he served as the general
manager (&) and secretary to the Communist Party
Committee of Nanyang Transistor Factory (5 meies
). From 2002 to 2006, Mr. Fu served as a deputy general
manager and later a general manager of Nanyang Jinguan
Group Company Limited (Ff3&EEB ARSI T AR]). From
2006 to 2010, he was the chairman and president of Henan
Hexie Chuangye Investment Management Company Limited (jr]
HEEmAIEREEIE AR /A FR]). Mr. Fu has been the chairman of
Nanyang Pukang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FIFSEEA %X AR A
A]) since 2008. Mr. Fu graduated from 531 Mechanic Industrial
School (i = —#4 T 2 224%) (later renamed as Henan Industrial
School (A[F TERBERITEM)) with a diploma in Cannon
Manufacturing in 1980.

Xie Qingxi (#BE =), aged 41, was appointed as a non-
executive Director of the Company on 22 May 2011. Mr. Xie
Qingxi is the director of King Win. From 2000 to 2008, he
worked in Henan Lotus Gourmet Powder Company Limited (]
FEERIERMH AR AT, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, in various positions including secretary to the
board of directors and manager of securities department. Mr.
Xie has been appointed as the deputy president of Henan Hexie
Chuangye Investment Management Company Limited (A&
HEIEREEIEHMR AT since 2005. Mr. Xie also served as
a director of Nanyang Pukang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (F[5
LEEHAEFR AT from 2008 to 2012. Since February 2012,
he was appointed as managing director of Shenzhen Hwaxin
Equity Investment Fund Management Co. Ltd. (FYIZE (SR
KEELEEERAF]). Mr. Xie graduated from University of
Henan (ja]F A 28) with a Master’s Degree in Economics in 1999
and a doctoral degree in Economics from Fudan University in
2005, and was engaged in postdoctoral research in Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics (/88148 A22) in 2009.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus (5kf%2), aged 49, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on
19 October 2011. Mr. Chu has over 20 years of experience in
corporate finance, audit, accounting and taxation. He has been
working as an executive director of Chinese People Holdings
Company Limited (R AR A F]) (stock code: 681) since
2008, and also an independent non-executive director of Eyang
Holdings (Group) Co., Limited (FF5#3% (&) AR A7) (stock
code: 117), Huayu Expressway Group Limited (3£ 8 5 &£ EH
BIRAT]) (stock code: 1823), Flyke International Holdings Ltd.
(e BRI A R A F)) (stock code: 1998), China AU Group
Holdings Limited (TE& S &£ BEZERABR AR (stock code:
8176) and Telecom Service One Holdings Limited (E:l &}
1R BB A R]) (stock code:8145) since 2007, 2009, 2010 and
2012 respectively. During the period from September 2005 to
March 2007, Mr. Chu was the executive director of Mastermind
Capital Limited (Z1EREHBR A7) (stock code: 905), during
the relevant period known as Haywood Investments Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From January 2008 to August 2010, he was the independent
non-executive director of Sustainable Forest Limited (ZKER#K
2 AGE R A 7)) during the relevant period known as Bright
Prosperous Holdings Limited (& &R AER AR (stock
code: 723) a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He was also the company secretary of Sun Century
Group Limited (KFZtE42 £ E AR AR]), during the relevant
period know as Hong Long Holdings Limited (EEEZEIRERE A
7]) (stock code: 1383), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, responsible for corporate finance, financial
reporting and compliance and company secretarial matters from
2008 to 2010. Mr. Chu graduated from the University of Hong
Kong with a Master's Degree in Business Administration. Mr.
Chu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Chu is also an associate member of both the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and the
Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries.
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Li Zhigiang (Z&3i&), aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 19
October 2011. He has been an executive director and the
president of Shougang Holdings Limited (& #fiZ&X G A7)
since December 2004. In March 2006, he was a director of Sino
Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (FEI4m ABRBRR (DGR AR, and
vice chairman in September 2008. He was also appointed as
the chairman and secretary to the Communist Party Committee
of Shougang Yili Steel Co., Ltd. (HFEEMEF AR A F) in
February 2010.

Zhang Jinhua ((R¥# %), aged 49, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 19
October 2011. Mr. Zhang has over 25 years of experience in
automobile industry. He is currently the head of secretary (&
£) to Society of Automotive Engineers of China (1 E;55% T2
Z@) and has been serving as the deputy head of secretary (g
ZE ) and later the head of secretary to Society of Automotive
Engineers of China and the head of secretary to China
Automotive Industry Technology Progress Rewarding Fund
(PETE TERTE S EEESE) since 2009. From 1988 to
2009, Mr. Zhang served as an assistant to the head, deputy
head (2|FTH) and head (FT&) and deputy president (2= 1F) to
the president assistant centre (E{EBIIE A L)) of the Automotive
Technology Information Institute (5EHiT1E R FTFT) of China
Automotive Technology & Research Center (H1 Bl 5 8 1 T4
A0y, Mr. Zhang graduated from the Jilin Industrial University (&
MIZEKE) (later renamed as Jilin University (F#AER)) with a
bachelor degree in Automotive Application in 1988.
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Shi Hongmei (5§ %1§), aged 44, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 April
2014. From 1991 to 1999, Ms. Shi worked at Beijing Building
Materials Factory (dt R @M E @A) as deputy plant
manager. From 1999 to 2005, she served as manager of the
Corporate Culture Department, BGO ING, China National
Petroleum Corporation (FEAHMEE R ABEYE ARG DE
X AbE). From 2004 to 2005, she seconded to and served as
deputy manager of the Department of Volunteer Work, the
Central Committee of the Communist Youth League of China
(LEFEHPREBEETESS. From 2005 to 2010, she served
as deputy office manager of the President’s Office, China
Development Bank. Ms. Shi graduated from Shanghai Tong
Ji University in 1991 with a Bachelor’'s Degree in thermal
engineering, and obtained a Master of Public Aministration
Degree from Beijing University and China National School
of Administration in 2006 and a Master’'s Degree in applied
finance from Macquarie University in 2013. Ms. Shi is a Doctor
of financial engineering candidate in Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics. She has obtained the attorney at
law licence of the People’s Republic of China since 1999.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Zhao Zeng (#51%), aged 39, is the executive deputy general
manager (B & 2|44 1E) of the Group and is principally
responsible for the Group s sale affairs. Mr. Zhao has over 16
years of experience in auditing and management. Mr. Zhao
joined the Group in 2005 and served in various positions
including the supervisor of the office of the Board, assistant to
general manager (M= BhIE), deputy general office manager (g
J& ) and deputy general manager responsible for procurement.
Prior to joining the Group, he worked in various positions in
Nanyang She Qi Province Auditor Bureau (EF5 1t &%=t /=)
from 1995 to 2002 including auditing officer, auditing executive
and auditing manager (5t F1{&) responsible for supervision
and auditing of financial status of different units in accordance
with relevant regulatory requirements in the PRC. Mr. Zhao
graduated from Central South University (R X28), major in
Business Administration through online study mode. He was
accredited as an accountant and economist by the technology
committee of Nanyang (FF5 TR in 2000.

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

LR M BZERBUIEWNITESE A
“E-NFEA-AREM -B-AN—FE
—NANNE > ERITRIERTENEBERT
- EEEBE - BE-ANMNFE_ZTTRE
FHEPBELMEERT AHYEARREX

*IW«IE B-TEMNEFE_TTHF - RENRTP
%lqﬂ%i@%l{’ﬁ*ﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬂjﬁb‘i&%ﬂ
FE B-ZTETRFE TE - REEP

!I%F’fﬁ?é‘ﬁiﬁﬁﬁ#b#@i%ﬂi& LR
—NN—FEERLBRERE - BEEAGETRE
BEf TR -_EENEEILRAZEERT
BERBRARLE i@ﬁﬁimu&?‘fgf—iﬁ
& I8 A 2 (Macquarie University) 28 1% fE B &
B2 - St At EME ﬂnij(m?tu,aémﬂ
TRRSBEL: - FE NN FREPE AR
B 2R AR o

SREEE
g 39m  AKEEBRIAKE  TEES
EAREENHEESHE  cBEERAER T AFRE
NERER HEEN _STRAFMALAER -
&,/ﬂlﬁgﬁk BRESSHAEEMT BEEY
CBIEREDERENRIBLE - RIMAKRE
.HIJ BER—NMNAFE=_ZTZ_FaEB
HESRTBAZ AR - 2REEEE - Bit
BEREIR  BERBETEEBREETHEEE
REFASEMNMBERR - BEEZERPEAKR
2 ERELECEXETEIRNER - FRZZ
EEFEEGTMEERE SR RS ER



Xing Yunming (#8Z88), aged 64, is the chief engineer of the
Group mainly responsible for design, research and development.
He has over 40 years of experience in the automobile shock
absorber industry. He was the deputy committee (2| FEZE8)
of the Seventh Suspension System Committee of the China
Auto Industrial Association (FEI/AE TIPS THERES
). He was accredited as a senior engineer by the technology
committee of Henan (JAIFE & RIZ) in 1997. He joined the Group
in 1972 as a technician and served in various technical positions
including technical manager, chief engineer and deputy general
office manager (2|# &) of the Group. He is one of the inventors
of 6 patents with respect to shock absorber manufacturing and
processing which are possessed by the Group.

Zhu Zihua (% B ), aged 51, is the deputy general manager
of the Group and responsible for production. He has over 25
years of experience in automobile shock absorber industry.
Mr. Zhu graduated from the Henan College of Finance and
Economics (A B4 E2%) (later renamed as Henan University
of Finance and Economics (] F B & BUA R E2)) with major
in Economics Management in 1997. He was qualified as a
qualified engineer by the technology committee of Nanyang
Municipal (B85 M £IZ) and accredited as a senior economist
by the technology committee of Henan (A& RIZE) in 1998
and 1999 respectively. Mr. Zhu joined the Group as a technician
in 1986 and served in various positions including supervisor
of electroplating workshop, production manager and deputy
production general manager. He is one of the inventors of 10
patents with respect to shock absorber manufacturing and
processing which are possessed by the Group.

Li Zhigian (&), aged 44, is the deputy general financial
manager of the Group. He has over 20 years of experience in
finance. He joined the Group in 2009 as an assistant to general
manager (K& B)E), responsible for finance work. He has been
appointed as deputy general financial manager since 2011. Mr.
Li was an auditing manager and deputy head (2|Ff&) of Xinwei
Limited Liability Public Accountants’ Firm of Nanyang (FF5{=
BARE TR S from 1998 to 2009, responsible for
auditing works. Mr. Li graduated from Henan Province Business
College (A& % mEHRIER) with a diploma in Finance
and Accounting (B4 &2 %) in 1991. He is a fellow member of
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Hung Man Yuk, Dicson (j#=2/8), aged 38, has been the
Company Secretary and authorised representative of the Group
since 1 March 2012. Mr. Hung has extensive experience in
accounting, financial control and compliance. Mr. Hung obtained
a Master's Degree in finance from The Curtin University of
Technology in November 2002. He was admitted a member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in July
2004 and a fellow member of the Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants in November 2006. He is also a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Hung has also
been appointed executive of several other listed companies,
including Qualified Accountant, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of Zhongtian International Ltd. (Stock Code:
2379) from 2006 to 2007, Company Secretary of Come Sure
Group (Holdings) Ltd (Stock Code: 794) and China Tian Lun Gas
Holdings Ltd. (Stock Code: 1600) since July 2010 and October
2010 respectively.

Liu Jinyong (2]€ k), aged 43, is the deputy general manager
of the international business and domestic after market
business of the Group. Mr. Liu has over 17 years experience
in sales and management. He joined the Group in September
2006 and served as an assistant to general manager (& E)
I#) and the deputy general sales manager. Prior joining the
Group, he served in various positions including marketing
director (Central China) of dairy products department of Hunan
Yahua Agricultural Products Holding Company (JiFg 202 f& 2
P AR A ) from 2001 to 2008, logistics officer and sales
director (Greater Central China) of Foodstuffs Corporation of the
Provincial Food Office (i@ REEIE AR M al) from October
1997 to August 2000. Mr. Liu graduated from Nanyang Normal
University (FI[5EME ERER) in July 1995.

Liu Yonghong (215 4L), aged 47, is the deputy general
manager and the deputy administration manager of the Group.
Mr. Liu has over 25 years of experience in management. He
joined the Group in November 1998 and served as the deputy
administration manager since then. He is responsible for
administration management, logistics services, infrastructure,
security and safety, and corporate development planning. Prior
joining the Group, he worked for the Bureau of Statistics of
Zhejiang and Sichuan Province (i)l %4551 B) from July 1988
to October 1998. Mr. Liu graduated from Henan University of
Economics and Law in 1990 with a Professional Diploma in
Statistics. He was accredited as an economist by the science
and technology committee of Nanyang City (Ff5HRIE2EiTE
E%) in December 1999.
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Chu Xinyao (#&#7#), aged 52, is the deputy general manager
of the Group and responsible for project supervision. He joined
the Group in 1983 and has over 30 years of experience in
management. Mr. Chu worked in various senior positions in the
Group including deputy general office manager (2|, deputy
general sales manager deputy general procurement manager
and quality control manager. Mr. Chu graduated from Central
Agricultural Broadcasting and Television School (F7 g £ 5 1%
TR ERT) with a diploma in Agricultural Economics in 1988. He
was accredited as an economist by the technology committee

of Henan (AIEg&ARIZE) in 1999.

Cheng Zhoujian (2/&&), aged 42, is the assistant to the
general manager of the Group. Mr. Cheng has over 18 years
of experience in automobile shock absorber industry. He
graduated from Nanyang Institute of Technology (FEF[5IET
£[7) with a diploma of Machine Manufacturing in 1994. He
joined the Group in 1994 and served various positions including
deputy officer (E]F={F) and a deputy division manager (g8} &)
of technical department, responsible for production technology.
From 2004 to 2009, Mr. Cheng served various positions
including the product engineering deputy general manager and
quality control manager of the Group. Since January 2011, he
has been appointed as assistant to the general manager (B
Bh32). responsible for product research and development of the
Group.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the 2013 Financial Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries include research,
development and manufacturing of automobile shock absorber
and suspension system for the OEM Market and automobile
aftermarket in the PRC.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal activities of the Company's subsidiaries
at 31 December 2013 are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the 2013 Financial Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 64 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 5 June 2013 to Monday, 9 June 2013 (both
days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the identity of
members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM,
during which period no transfer of shares can be registered.
In order to qualify for attending the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 4 June 2013.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the issued share capital of the
Group during the 2013 Financial Year are set out in note 30 to
the financial statements of this annual report.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the 2013 Financial Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 67 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2013, the distributable reserves of the
Company amounted to approximately RMB150.5 million (2012:
RMB98.9 million), comprising the share premium, the capital
reserve, the share-based reserve and the retained earnings of
the Company.

Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands,
in addition to the retained earnings of the Company, the share
premium and capital reserves of the Company are also available
for distribution to shareholders provided that the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course
of business immediately following the date on which any such
distribution is proposed to be paid.

For the surplus reserves, it comprising statutory surplus reserve
and discretionary surplus reserve, which are non-distributable
and the transfer to these reserves is determined according to
the relevant laws in the PRC and by the board of directors of
the PRC subsidiaries in accordance with the Article of Associate
of the subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve can be used to
make up for previous years’ losses or convert into additional
capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company. Discretionary
surplus reserve can be used to expand the existing operations
of the Company's PRC subsidiaries.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had property, plant and
equipment at net book value of approximately RMB445.0
million (2012: RMB373.9 million). Details of the movements are
set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the 2013 Financial Year, the Group made charitable and
other donation totaling approximately RMB1,619,000 (2012:
RMB129,500).
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CAPITALIZED INTERESTS

During the 2013 Financial Year, the Group capitalised its
borrowing costs as facility for assets under construction of
approximately RMB14.8 million (2012: RMB11.1 million).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years is set out on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

BORROWINGS
Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in notes 27
to financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, sales to
the Group's five largest customers accounted for 60.0% and
57.8% of the total revenue of the Group, respectively, of which
sales to the largest customer accounted for 16.9% and 17.9%,
respectively.

For the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 38.6%
and 34.6% of the total purchases of the Group, respectively, of
which purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 8.3%
and 8.5%, respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company'’s issued shares) had any interests in
the Group's five largest customers or suppliers set out above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities during
the 2013 Financial Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles, or the law of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company is incorporated, under which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the 2013 Financial Year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the 2013 Financial Year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHAO Zhijun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. WANG Wenbo

Ms. YANG Weixia

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wilson SEA (Chairman)
Mr. XIE Qingxi

Mr. FU Pengxu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHU Kin Wang, Peleus

Mr. LI Zhigiang

Mr. ZHANG Jinhua

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, if the number of Directors is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number of Directors nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office but eligible for re-
election, and every Director should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at AGM. Accordingly,
all of the Directors will retire by rotation from the Board at the
forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election as Directors.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS

Profiles of the above Directors are set out on pages 22 to 31 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors (namely, Mr. Zhao Zhijun, Mr.
Wang Wenbo and Ms. Yang Weixia) had entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
with effect from 22 May 2011. Each service agreement will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party by giving
to the other party not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing.

Each of the non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors had been appointed for an initial term of three years
with effect from 27 April 2011 for the Chairman and non-
executive Director (namely, Mr. Wilson Sea), 22 May 2011 for
the other two non-executive Directors (namely, Mr. Fu Pengxu
and Mr. Xie Qingxi) and 19 October 2011 for all the independent
non-executive Directors (namely, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus,
Mr. Li Zhigiang and Mr. Zhang Jinhua). All Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles and the
Listing Rules.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

Details of the emoluments of every Director for the 2013
Financial Year is set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance, to which the Company,
or its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
throughout the 2013 Financial Year.

COMPETING INTEREST

None of the Directors had, either directly or indirectly, an
interest in a business which causes or may cause any
significant competition with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may
have with the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the written resolutions of shareholders of the
Company passed on 19 October 2011, the Company adopted
the Share Option Scheme subject to the terms and conditions
therein. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from the Listing Date.

A. Summary of the Share Option Scheme

1.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions that the
Eligible Participants (as defined in paragraph 2 below)
have made or may make to the business development
of the Group.

Eligible Participants

The Board may at its discretion offer options to any
executive, non-executive or INED; any employee of the
Group and any customer, supplier, agent, business or
joint venture partner, consultant, distributor, promotor,
service provider, adviser or contractor of any member
of the Group. The above-mentioned persons are
collectively referred to as "Eligible Participants” and
each an “Eligible Participant”.

Maximum number of Shares

As at the date of the annual report, the total number
of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes was 32,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the
Listing Date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the
total number of Shares in issue from time to time.
Options may not be granted under any schemes of the
Company (including the Share Option Scheme) if this
will result in the said 30% limit being exceeded.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company,
no option may be granted to any Eligible Participants
which if exercised in full would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options already granted or to
be granted to such Eligible Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share option) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% of the total number of
Shares in issue as at the date of such new grant.

Time of exercise of options and duration of

Share Option Scheme

(@) Time of exercise of options
An option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during the period to be notified by the Board to the
grantee save that such period shall not be more
than 10 years from the date of grant. There is no
minimum period for which an option must be held
before if can be exercised.

Unless the Board otherwise determined, a grantee
is not required to achieve any performance target
before any options granted can be exercised.

(b) Duration of the Share Option Scheme
The duration of the Share Option Scheme shall be
10 years from the Listing Date.
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6. Subscription price and payment on grant
(a) Subscription price
The Subscription price for the Shares under
the Share Option Scheme shall be the price
determined by the Board and notified to the
Eligible Participant which shall not be less than the
highest of:

()  the nominal value of a Share;

(i) the closing price of each Share as stated on
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer of the option; and

(i) the average closing price of each Share as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation
sheet for the five consecutive trading days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the
option.

(b) Payment on grant
Eligible Participants are required to pay a
consideration of HK$1.0 for the acceptance of an
option granted to them.

7. Termination of the Share Option Scheme
The Company may by ordinary resolution in general
meeting or the Board may at any time terminate
the Share Option Scheme. Options granted prior to
such termination but not yet exercised at the time of
termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

B. Options granted by the Company
As at date of this Report, no option has been granted or
agreed to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise required to
notify the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in Shares

EERRONAEBERONVERR KR

RIB—=F+"A=+—RH EFERARAET
BBHNAR B REE AR EE (E& RESF R

HIBIRGIEXVER) 898D
FEAREE NS 155253621
i PR SR S AR IR AR 2

RER AR ¢

RBROFHEFE

ErRRAE AR

B RESHT
%ZE?TEE’JE‘EE

5 32T

Number of issued Shares held and

nature of interest

FERERTROBE MEENLE

Corporate

Approximate

Personal Interests percentage of
Interests (interests of issued
(beneficial a controlled share capital
Name of Directors EEpE owner) corporation) of the Company
BAER DEIER (R ERDRE BT
(BREEBA) EHATRNER) RANEABIE
Wilson Sea’ Wilson Sea!

(formerly known as Xi Chunying) (RIFEREELD) - 119,390,000 31.09%
Zhao Zhijun? HEE? 26,280,000 6.84%
Fu Pengxu? 3183 9,600,000 2.50%
Xie Qingxi4 B - 5,760,000 1.50%
Notes: Brst -

1. These Shares are held by Wealth Max Holdings Limited (“Wealth
Max"). Mr. Wilson Sea is the sole beneficial owner of Wealth Max
and hence is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Wealth Max under the SFO.

2. These Shares are held by Plenty Venture Holdings Limited (“Plenty
Venture"”). Zhao Zhijun (#E) owns 63.93% issued share capital of
Plenty Venture and hence is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Plenty Venture under the SFO.

3. These Shares are held by Mr. Fu Pengxu ({32 /8) directly.

4. These Shares are held by King Win Capital Limited (“King Win").
Xie Qingxi (#H5=) owns 50% of the issued capital of King Win and
hence is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by King Win
under the SFO.

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

1. #Z % & 5 B Wealth Max Holdings Limited
(TWealth Max])#% ° Wilson Seast4E AWealth
Max Bl — BB A - BURIEE S K HE 45

BRIEMRWealth Max#% 8 HIFT A IR0 A s o

2. ZEROBE

RERAR AR

(TBRDEH - #

EEHARIR63.93% B BITIRA - BiREES K

HIREBIR R AR

3. ZERNH

R4 5

=E
B

K4
# °

=
auk

~.

%ﬂwwﬂ

RIS A BT IR S S o

B EBEEEERE

NEEBREERAR(R
EHER REE0% B BITIRAN - MURHEE?

BEIEPIRIER S BIBMA RN EAE

B DRA - B



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of
the Directors or the chief executive of the Company, had any
interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise required to notify to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

At no time during the 2013 Financial Year were the rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in the
Company granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2013, the following persons (other than a
Director or the chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in Shares

BREXHEEN RZE—ZF+ZA=+—
B BMEEFRARFITREHNARFHEL
AR EE (E& R E S RS EOIFEXVER) # ik
7~ AR REFT - BERERE SRS F
BIFE3B2EMER TR EMERMATRE - FRE
BRETRAMG AR R LB R E R

A

B o

R-T-=FHRFEMEEANRR - SHEIH
EERREEANEBIAKF FRERAER
ARRRBAD MBS ORI - T IMEITEERA
BERER 0 ADE - EERARKEERARBA
ABEAT MR - ML ERAMNMEMEME
ANERREF U SR -

FERRRHEMALTRARSG RAEBRS
HYRER KX A

RZE—=F+=—A=+—8 ' WFTAL(EEK
RAREZITHABBRIN IG5 AR B FERE AR
0 BEEREESF MG FEI36IEREERT
FENE MRS AR

RGP EEFRE

Number of issued Shares held and
nature of interest
FREERTROBERESENE
Approximate
percentage of

issued

Personal Interests share capital

Name of shareholders BREEZE (beneficial owner) of the Company
& ARz AN TE BT

(BERHEBA) BRANBENE D

Wealth Max! Wealth Max' 119,390,000 31.09%
Plenty Venture? B2 26,280,000 6.84%
Wang Liying® FExs 119,390,000 31.09%
Sun Haiyan#* T4 g 74 26,280,000 6.84%
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Notes:
1. Wealth Max is wholly beneficially owned by Mr. Wilson Sea.

2. Plenty Venture is owned by Zhao Zhijun (fi75%5) as to 63.93%, Liu
Baojun (Z|{RE) as to 5.48%, Zhao Zeng (#418) as to 4.57%, Wang
Wenbo (E3f) as to 4.57%, Chu Xinyao (#%#7#2) as to 4.57%, Liu
Yonghong (25K 4T) as to 4.57%, Zhu Zihua (5K B %) as to 4.57%, Liu
Jinyong (214:5K) as to 4.11% and Yang Weixia (1532 &) as to 3.65%.

3. Ms. Wang Liying is the spouse of Mr. Wilson Sea. By virtue of the
SFO, Ms. Wang Liying is deemed to be interested in all shares in
which Mr. Wilson Sea is interested and/or deemed to be interested.

4. Ms. Sun Haiyan is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Zhijun. By virtue of the
SFO, Ms. Sun Haiyan is deemed to be interested in all shares in
which Mr. Zhao Zhijun is interested and/or deemed to be interested.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to any Director or
chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2013, no
other person had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 23 November 2011. The aggregate net proceeds,
after deducting underwriting fees and the related expenses
payable in connection with the initial public offering, amounted
to approximately HK$78.1 million. Please refer to the
prospectus issued on 11 November 2011 by the Company for
details. As of 31 December 2013, the proceeds from the initial
public offering available for and utilized by the Company are as
follows:

et -
1. Wealth MaxFfiWilson Seatt £ 2 E B A ©

2. BRBESE - BRE - BE - TI0K -
1~ KA KRB E - ARk RGEREDHES
63.93% * 5.48% * 4.57% ~ 457% ~ 457% -
457% > 4.57% ~ 4.11%}3.65% °

3. TREHEZ T AWilson Seat £ WEE - BIEEFH
RERE G - ERBEZ TR AR Wilson Sea’t
A R SRR A S s R A e o

4. BERLIRBESELELENERE - RESHEH
BiEP - RERRIHBEANBEEELLERES
K/ BB A R 2 BT A -

BEXBEESN  BEMEERAQADTRER
i R=B—=F+-A=+—A  BEE
AERBA XA FURMAA T - A REES
RS OIE 6 E AT F BN B RMATRS
B SAA -

BXLRBRERERERR

RARRZE——F+— A=+ ZBREXE
RET  FISRIBFREINABBEEARERA
FEERERNRASEEHO/781BERT(F
BE2HMARRR_E——F+—F+—B %
ZHBRER) HE_ZT-—=F+_-_A=+—H
I ARRASHAREBREE X AABRENS
RIEMT -

Net proceeds from the global offering
2RBENFERIEFRE

Use of proceeds 8RB RZ Available Utilized
At E A [Ea):
(HK$ million) (HK$ million)
(A8#ET) (BB#ER)

Acquisition and installation of production B8 & & & iE 7 A E R
facilities for expansion 36.2 36.2
Construction of plants and buildings W T M ST 22.7 22.7
Product research and development EmifEgA 18.7 18.7
Working capital injection HrEEES 0.5 0.5
Total R 78.1 78.1
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SUBSCRIPTION
OF NEW SHARES

The Company announced the completion of the subscriptions
of new shares on 22 May 2013. The gross proceeds from the
subscriptions amounted to HK$83.2 million. The net proceeds
from the subscriptions of approximately HK$83.0 million were
expected to be used for developing the Group’'s automotive
component business through investments and mergers and
acquisitions as well as for general working capital.

On 18 November 2013, the Company, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, First Bridge, entered into Partnership Agreement
with First Capital Fund Management Co., Ltd (HiEESEIE
BPR/AT]) to inject the said proceeds from the allotment of
new shares of RMB83.0 million to First Capital Automotive
Component Industry M&A Fund L.P. in the capacity of limited
partner. It is aimed at securing return from capital investment
in, as well as from acquisition and merger of, the automobile
component business and assets in the PRC and overseas
markets.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the announcement in
relation to the subscription of new shares dated 24 April 2013, as
well as the announcement in relation to investment in limited
partnership dated 18 November 2013, the Group did not have
other plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions set out in note 33 to the financial
statements also constitute continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

During the 2013 Financial Year, the Group had no connected
transaction and continuing connected transactions that were
not exempted under Rules 14A.31 and 14A.33 of the Listing
Rules.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holdings of the Shares.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) was established
by the Company on 19 October 2011 with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal
control procedures.

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Chu
Kin Wang, Peleus, Mr. Li Zhigiang and Mr. Zhang Jinhua. Mr.
Chu Kin Wang, Peleus is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
the Company had maintained sufficient public float that the
percentage of the Company’s shares which are in the hands
of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group had
1,452 employees (2012: 1,418 employees) with total
remuneration and welfare benefits expenses amounted to
approximately RMB62.4 million (2012: RMB46.8 million). The
Group’s remuneration policy is primarily based on the job
responsibilities, work performance and years of services of
each employee and the current market conditions. The Group
also provided internal and external trainings and courses to our
employees to encourage self-improvement and to enhance their
technical skills. The determination of the remuneration to the
Directors will be based on their job duties and responsibilities,
experience and current market condition.
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Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code provision B.1.5,
the remuneration of the member of the senior management by
the remuneration band for the year ended 31 December 2013 is
set out below:

BIEREEIATRIEBNLKKY - BREEREK
BEE_Z—=F+-HA=+—HIFE&RHMH
MRIBI 2 F ST

Number of
individuals
Remuneration band (RMB) HENARI(ARE) A"
Nil to 500,000 ZZ500,0007T 7
500,001 to 1,000,000 500,0017C%1,000,0007T 2
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 1,000,0017T%1,500,0007T 1

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("MPF Scheme") under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the employer and employee are required to
make contributions of 5% of the employees’ relevant income
to the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$25,000. Contributions made to the scheme are vested
immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC participate in
the retirement schemes operated by the local authorities. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their salaries to these schemes to finance the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group in respect to these schemes is the
required contributions under the schemes.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's total
contributions to the retirement schemes charged in the income
statement amounted to approximately RMB7.9 million (2012:
approximately RMB7.1 million). Details of the Group’s pension
scheme and the basis of calculation are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than employment with employees of the Company, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed with any individual, company or
body corporate during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Details on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report from pages 47 to 61 of this
annual report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the 2013 Financial Year have been
audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution to re-appoint
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be
proposed for approval by shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited financial statements have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee of the Company, which comprises three
INEDs namely Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, Mr. Li Zhigiang and
Mr. Zhang Jinhua. Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus is the Chairman of
the Audit Committee.

On behalf of the Board
Chairman
Wilson SEA

28 March 2014
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The Board is committed to promoting good corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and
to enhance the Group's performance. The Group believes that
conducting its businesses in an open and responsible manner
and following good corporate governance practices serve its
long-term interests and those of its shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with Corporate Governance Code
(effective from 1 April 2012) (the “Corporate Governance
Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules so as to
enhance the corporate governance standard of the Company
throughout the 2013 Financial Year.

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties set out in the Corporate
Governance Code. The Board reviews at least annually the
corporate governance practices of the Company to ensure its
continuous compliance with the Corporate Governance Code,
and make appropriate changes if considered necessary. During
the 2013 Financial Year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance duties set out in the Corporate Governance Code.

None of the Directors is aware of any information which would
reasonably indicate that the Company was not in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code during the 2013 Financial
Year.

THE BOARD

The overall management of the business of the Group is
delegated to the Board. The Board is responsible for the
formulation of strategic, management and financial objectives
of the Group and ensuring that the interest of Shareholders
including those minority shareholders are protected. Daily
operations and administration of the Group are delegated to the
executive Directors and the management.
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Board of Directors

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors. As of the date of this annual report, the
composition and committees of the Board is as follows:

Audit
Committee

Directors == EREZES
Executive Directors Z1TEZE

Mr. ZHAQO Zhijun (Chief Executive Officer)
HEB K& (TTBEZ)

Mr. WANG Wenbo F 3R 54

Ms. YANG Weixia 532 E 4+

Mr. WANG Ping (from 1 April 2014)
FTEFEE(BZT—HFMNA—RAR)

Non-executive Directors £ 7/TE%E

Mr. Wilson SEA (Chairman)
Wilson SEA%E A (£ /%)

Mr. YAN Haiting (from 1 April 2014)
EE=rE(B-E—WFmA—Hie)

Mr. FU Pengxu {38 % 4
Mr. XIE Qingxi #hE = &£
Independent Non-executive Directors

BUIHITEE

Mr. CHU Kin Wang, Peleus K #7754
Mr. LI Zhigiang 27538564

Mr. ZHANG Jinhua SR3EEE S 4

Ms. SHI Hongmei (from 1 April 2014)
SR E(BE=T—HFMNA—AR)

< 0o

Notes:
C - chairman
M — member

Profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 22 to 28 of this
annual report and is updated on the website of the Company.

The Board believes that the composition of the executive and
non-executive directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests
of Shareholders and the Group. The non-executive Directors
provide the Group with diversified expertise and experience.
Their views and participation in Board and committee meetings
bring independent judgement and advice on issues relating
to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of interest
and management process, which in turn ensuring that the
interests of all shareholders are taken into account. One of
the independent non-executive directors, Mr. Chu Kin Wang,
Peleus possesses the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications or related financial management expertise as
required under the Listing Rules.
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The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship with each other.

The Group provides briefings and other trainings to develop
and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group,
together with its legal counsel, continuously update Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices.

During the year, the Company organised a formal training
session for the Directors and conducted by Cheung & Lee in
association with Locke Lord (HK) LLP. The training session
covered topics including the Corporate Governance Code, the
disclosure of inside information and establishment of an internal
control system. All Directors attended the training session.

The Board Meetings
The Board meets at least twice a year and additional meetings
will be convened when deemed necessary by Board.

The schedule of regular meetings for the whole year has been
informed to each Director. Notices of Board meetings will be
served to all the Directors at least 14 days before the meeting.
Notices and agenda of the Board meeting are prepared by
the Company Secretary as delegated by the Chairman. All
the Directors are given the opportunity to include any matters
which they believe to be appropriate in the agenda of the Board
meetings.

Agenda and relevant documents of Board meetings with
adequate background information and supporting analysis
are made available to the Directors at least 3 days before
the intended date of the Board meeting. All the Directors are
given separate and independent access to the Company’s
senior management for further information and enquiries.
The Company Secretary and senior management attends all
the meetings of the Board and Board committees to advise
on corporate governance, statutory compliance and financial
matters.
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Any material matters that would have conflict of interest
between the directors/substantial shareholders and the
Company will be dealt with in the Board meeting. Pursuant to
the Articles, a Director is not entitled to vote on (nor is counted
in the quorum) any resolution of the Board in respect of any
contract or arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in
which he or any of his associates (including any person who
would be deemed to be an "associate” of the Directors under
the Listing Rules) has any material interest, except in certain
special circumstances. The chairman of the Board meeting
is required to ensure that each Director is aware of such
requirement at each Board meeting and declaration of interest is
properly made in the Board meeting where conflicts of interest
arise.

Directors have access to the advices and services of the
Company Secretary and key officers of the Company in
relation to the board procedures. Draft minutes of Board/
Board committee meetings recorded in sufficient details the
matters considered by the participants of such meetings
and decisions reached are forwarded to the participants for
comments within a reasonable time after the meetings and
final versions of minutes of Board meetings and meetings of
Board committee are kept by the Company Secretary, which
are open for inspection by any Directors at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and
timely information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties
properly. Directors may seek independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of
the Board.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management
in execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD AT MEETINGS

The attendance record of the Directors at the meetings of
the Board, the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee, the Strategy Committee and general
meeting during the 2013 Financial Year are set out in the
following table:

gENLFELTE
TREFIN-F-ZFHRFEHNES L FE
=® BLZES PWEE®  REZEE-
WA R R RAR A IR

Meetings attended/Meetings held

GliA=F WA -E Ve
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Strategy General
Board Committee =~ Committee = Committee ~ Committee meeting
Eze ENZEE  ¥WEEE  R4ZEE BMEEE REAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. ZHAQ Zhijun BEERE
(Chief Executive Officer) (7TH#4%) 33 NATER "n NATEHA 7n 7n
Mr. WANG Wenbo TREE 3B’ NAMER N/ATER N/ATER NATER i
Ms. YANG Weixia BEERT 3B NATER NANER NANER N/ATER i
Mr. WANG Ping (from 1 April 2014)  TFE4(E-Z-MEWA-HE) NANER  NAMER NATEHA NATEHA NATEHA NATEHA
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Wilson SEA (Chairman) Wilson SEA%E(Z8) B NAER NATEHA Il N 0
Mr. YAN Haiting (from 1 April 2014)  BA=%4(5-5-RERA-A®E) NAMER  NATER N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER AR
Mr. XIE Qingxi AEERE 3B NATER NANER NANER NATER i
Mr. FU Pengxu NERLE 3B NATER NANER NANER i 7
Independent BU#H7EE
non-executive Directors
Mr. CHU Kin Wang, Peleus REREE 33 0 i i NATER il
Mr. LI Zhigjang TR 33 0 NANER  NANER i i
Mr. ZHANG Jinhua REEEE 33 22 mn "n i mn
Ms. SHI Hongmei (from 1 April 2014) %% +(A=S-BFMA-BE) NANER  NANER NANER NANER NANER NANER
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER FERTHRAER

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and not exercised by the same individual. The Chairman is
responsible for the leadership and effective running of the
Board and ensuring that all material issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group
and the implementation of the approved strategies of the
Group. The Board is headed by the Chairman, Mr. Wilson Sea,
formerly known as Mr. Xi Chunying. The Chief Executive Officer
is Mr. Zhao Zhijun.

With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman is
committed to ensuring all the Directors are properly briefed on
issues to be proposed at the Board meetings and be provided
with adequate information in a timely manner.
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INEDs

The Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least 3 INEDs,
representing at least one-third of the Board and with at least
one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise
throughout the 2013 Financial Year.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation from
each of the INEDs of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers them to be independent
of the management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent
judgment.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Articles set out matters which are specifically reserved to
the Board for its decision. Generally, the executive Directors
constantly meet on an informal basis and participate in senior
management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to
monitor and ensure the management carry out the directions
and strategies set by the Board correctly and appropriately.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Company and the Board require each Director to
understands his responsibilities as a Director and the business,
operating activities and development of the Company. Every
Director is required to devote sufficient time and involvement
in the affairs of the Board and the material matters of the
Company and to serve the Board with such degree of care
and due diligence given his own expertise, qualification and
professionalism.

A comprehensive Compliance Manual has been provided
to each Director and will be updated from time to time. All
Directors have been updated and briefed the relevant changes
in legal and regulatory matters to ensure that they have a
proper understanding of the operations and the business of the
Company and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities
under the applicable laws and regulations.

Each executive Director is responsible for the management of
the different functions of the business of the Group. The non-
executive Directors attend the Board meetings and give their
opinion on the business strategy of the Company and review
the financial and operation performance of the Group.

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

BYFHITES

BEGN =T = FHIREERRAE RS
A LTRBNRE EEROSBBUIRTES
(HEREEERI=H2—KE)  MAF—%
BUFNTEFABEEELER  RGHAA
B EE 2 FRMH -

ARRDEREZBEILIFPITESRELTRASE
BIBEIRER L 2 FEB LM ERMMER R > A
REBUIFRTERDHBLNERE - AWEME
Al RABRTEREETTELHE O ERRR o

EEERAE

A IERERESTERENER - ITES
—REMRTHEASH  TEHSEFRER
VEH UEEZEAKEARNLERKE
BERLEREEELERISEMNTEETSH
FHYHER S RS

EERE
ARRINEZEERTRERTFERIERESRN
BE  ARBBARRNKENMEB LS N
& BEEFHERARHFRNBRERES
EEHRRARREREE  YIERBEANFEMHM
B BENEERE  UEERENEERES
GRS ©

HENARTACREGE UES  YETH
B BUEERRESEHMABENINEE SR
BB RIET - UWRERKSFEHEBERQFN
BENER  BRSABERERERRRE TH
BfE-

ERTESNEEARENRH LEE TR
B FATES2HELZ R NMARAER
RERHEERNEHNAREMBMEERS



The INEDs serve the relevant function of bringing independent
judgment on strategic direction, development, performance and
risk management of the Group. The INEDs are all or a majority
of members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The Board is empowered under the Articles to appoint any
person as a Director to fill a casual vacancy on or as an
additional member of the Board. Suitable candidates who are
experienced and competent and able to fulfill the fiduciary
duties and duties of skill, care and diligence would be
recommended to the Board.

Each of the executive Directors was appointed for an initial
term of three years and each service agreement will continue
thereafter until terminated by either party by giving to the other
party not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors was appointed for a specific term of three
years. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and are
eligible for re-election pursuant to the Articles.

Pursuant to the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board
either to fill a casual vacancy or as addition to the Board shall
retire and be eligible for re-appointment at the next following
general meeting after appointment. At every AGM, one-third
of the Directors, including the Chairman, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election by shareholders. The
Directors appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-election as mentioned above shall be taken into account
in calculating the total number of Directors for the time being
but shall not be taken into account in calculating the number of
Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible for
re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the shareholders to enable them to make an informed
decision on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation,
removal or re-designation of Director shall be timely disclosed
to the shareholders by announcement and shall include in
such announcement, the reasons given by the Director for his
resignation.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 Board Committees, namely,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Strategy Committee, to
assist the Board for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company's affairs. The terms of reference setting out
the principles, procedures and arrangements of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee are available on the website of the Company. The
Board Committees report to the Board their decisions and
recommendations at the Board meetings.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 19 October 2011 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and maintained on the websites of the
Company and HKEx. The members of the Audit Committee
are Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, Mr. Li Zhigiang, Mr. Zhang
Jinhua and Ms. Shi Hongmei. Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, has been the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review,
oversee and supervise the effectiveness of the Group's
financial reporting process, internal control systems and risk
management.

The Audit Committee will hold meetings at least twice a year.

During the 2013 Financial Year, two meetings of the Audit
Committee were held. The Audit Committee has recommended
to the Board on the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu as the Company’s external auditors for the coming
year and the related resolution shall be put forth in the coming
AGM.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the scope and results of
the audit and its cost effectiveness as well as the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditors.
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During the 2013 Financial Year, the Audit Committee has,
amongst other things, reviewed the half-yearly and annual
results of the Company and the internal control matters of the
Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
in conjunction with the auditors, the audited annual financial
statements of the Group for the 2013 Financial Year and the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group. The
annual report for the 2013 Financial Year has been reviewed by
the Audit Committee.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group's external
auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, provided interim review
and annual audit services. For the year ended 31 December
2013, the total fee paid/payable in respect of services provided
by the Group’s external auditors is set out below:
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RMB’000

AR®T T

Annual audit services FEEZRS 1,280
Interim review services o HA i B8 AR 75 394

There was no non-audit services provided by the Group's
external auditors, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 19 October
2011, with its terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and maintained on the websites
of the Company and HKEx. The members of the Nomination
Committee are Mr. Wilson Sea, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus
and Mr. Zhang Jinhua. Mr. Wilson Sea is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for formulating
policies and making recommendations to the Board on
nominations, appointment of Directors and Board succession.
During the 2013 Financial Year, the Committee has, amongst
other things, developed selection procedures for candidates
for directorship after considering different criterion including
appropriate professional knowledge and industry experience.
The Committee has also reviewed the size, structure and
composition of the Board and assessed the independence of
the INEDs. The Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and it can seek independent professional
advice at the Company's expense if necessary.

The Nomination Committee will hold meetings of least once a
year.

During the 2013 Financial Year, two meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held. On 18 March 2013, the Nomination
Committee convened the first meeting for 2013 with all of the
members attended such meeting. The meeting nominated Mr.
Zhao Zhijun, Mr. Wang Wenbo and Ms. Yang Weixia to be re-
elected as the executive directors of the Company; assessed
the independency of Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, Mr. Li Zhigiang
and Mr. Zhang Jinhua; reviewed the members, structure and
composition of the Board and discussed the sufficiency of
time and efforts devoted to the performance of duties by the
directors of the Company.

On 29 August 2013, the Nomination Committee convened the
second meeting for 2013 with all of the members attended
such meeting. The meeting discussed and amended the terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee of the Board of the
Company, adding the policies and procedures of diversity of
Board members.

Diversity Policy and Measures

The Company is committed to ensure an appropriate balance
in the diversity of skills, experiences and perspectives and
angles of the Board members so as to support the execution
of business strategies and efficient operation of the Board. The
Company considered that “Diversity” is a broad idea. When
designing the combination of the Board members, the Company
may considered the diversity of members in various aspects,
including but not limited to sex, age, culture and education
background, professional experiences, skills, knowledge and
terms of service. The Board appoints its members based on
their talents and in accordance with the business mode and
specific up-to-date needs of the Company. It also refers to the
objective conditions and the benefits of the diversity of the
Board members in selecting candidates.
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Measurable Targets of Diversity Policy

The selection of Board members is based on a series of
aspects of diversity, including but not limited to sex, age,
culture and education background, professional experiences,
skills, knowledge and terms of service. The final decision is
made upon the advantages of the candidates and their possible
contribution to the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 19 October
2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and maintained on the websites
of the Company and HKEx. The members of the Remuneration
Committee are Mr. Zhao Zhijun, Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus
and Mr. Zhang Jinhua. Mr. Zhang Jinhua is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee will hold meetings at least once
ayear.

During the 2013 Financial Year,
Remuneration Committee was held.

one meeting of the

During the 2013 Financial Year, the Remuneration Committee
has reviewed the structure of remuneration for executive
Directors and assessed performance of executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the
determination, within agreed terms of reference, of specific
remuneration packages for executive Directors and senior
management, including salaries, retirement benefits, bonuses,
long-term incentives, benefits in kind and any compensation
payments. The Remuneration Committee commits to bringing
independent insight and scrutiny to the development and
review process of the Group with regards to remuneration. No
director is allowed to take part in any discussion about his own
remuneration.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration disclosed are set
out in note 13 to the financial statements. The Directors’ fee
shall be subject to shareholders’ approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments shall from time to time be determined
by the Board with reference to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities and subject to a review by the Remuneration
Committee.
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Strategy Committee

The Board of the Company established the Strategy Committee
of the Board on 28 March 2013 with an aim to adopt to needs
of the strategic development of the Company, enhance the
core competitiveness of the Company, ensure the development
plans of the Company, improve the investment decision
form, strengthen the scientific decision-making, uplifting the
efficiency in investment decisions and quality of decisions
and optimize the management structure of the Company. The
current members of the Strategy Committee of the Company
are Mr. Wilson Sea, Mr. Zhao Zhijun, Mr. Yan Haiting, Mr. Li
Zhigiang and Mr. Zhang Jinhua. Mr. Wilson Sea is the Chairman
of the committee.

The Strategy Committee convened a meeting for 2013. The
meeting reviewed and passed the terms of reference and rules
of procedures of the Strategy Committee of the Company in
addition to the overall strategic development framework of the
Company.

The Strategy Committee will convene at least a meeting
annually.

ACCOUNTANCY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing
the Company's financial statements for 2013 Financial Year
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Company’s annual report
is prepared and published in accordance with the Listing Rules
and the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards in a timely
manner. The Directors are provided with adequate information
to enable them to make an informed assessment of financial
and other information on matters for their approval.

The statement prepared by the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibility to the shareholders
on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 62 to 63 of this annual
report.

Internal controls

The Group has in place the sound and effective internal controls
to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the assets of
the Group. The Company has from time to time reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems in order to ensure
that they meet with the dynamic and ever changing business
environment.
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During the 2013 Financial Year, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions, the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and the training
programmes and budget through the Internal Audit Department
and the Audit Committee.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening extraordinary general
meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association,
Shareholder(s) holding at the date of dispatch of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Requisitionist(s)”) may, by written requisition (the
"Requisition”) to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in the
Requisition. The Requisition shall be lodged with the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 390,
3rd Floor, Peninsula Centre, 67 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The EGM shall be held within
two months after the dispatch of the Requisition. In the event
that the Board fails to convene the EGM within twenty-one
days after the dispatch of the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to raise enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 22, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board
through the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 390, 3rd Floor, Peninsula Centre, 67 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong which will direct the
enquiries to the Board for handling.
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Corporate Governance Report
EEERBE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Effective communication

The Board recognizes the importance of continuing
communications with shareholders and strives to ensure
the timeliness, completeness and accuracy of information
disclosure to shareholders and to the protection in the interests
of shareholders. As a channel to further promote effective
communication, the Group maintains a website, allowing
shareholders to access updates on the Company'’s particulars
where the Company’s announcements, financial information
and other information are posted.

The Board maintains an on-going dialogue with shareholders
through general meeting of the Company to communicate with
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and all directors would
attend the general meeting to answer any questions from
shareholders. Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue. A shareholder is
permitted to appoint any number of proxies to attend and vote
in his stead. In accordance with the Articles, the notice of AGM
would be sent to all Shareholders at least 20 business days and
no less than 21 clear days before the meeting and the notice of
all other general meetings would be sent at least 10 business
days and no less than 21 clear days before the meeting.

Voting by poll

The Articles have set out the rights of shareholders and
procedures demanding and conducting a poll on resolutions
at general meeting. Procedures for and shareholders’ right to
demand a poll have been specified in corporate communications
to shareholders and details of such rights are explained at the
general meeting of shareholders by the Chairman. As required
by the Listing Rules, all the general meetings will be voted by
way of poll. The results of the poll, if any, are published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Amendment on the Company’s Constitutional
Documents

There is no amendment on the Company’'s memorandum of
association and the Articles during the 2013 Financial Year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

Code for securities transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company has
made specific enquiry of all the Directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the 2013 Financial Year
and they have confirmed their full compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code for the 2013 Financial Year.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code
for Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate
dealings in securities of the Company by certain employees
of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the holding
companies who are considered to be likely in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to the Company or
its securities. [The Company has made specific enquiry of the
relevant employees regarding non-compliance with the Code for
Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees during the 2013
Financial Year and they have confirmed their full compliance
with the required standard set out in the said code for the 2013
Financial Year.]

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Mr. Hung Man Yuk, Dicson as
the Company Secretary, and Mr. Hung is responsible for all
the secretarial service. Mr. Hung confirmed that for the year
under review, he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal control systems are maintained so as to
safeguard the Group’s assets and the interest of shareholders.
The Board is responsible for reviewing the internal control
policies and has delegated the day-to-day management of
operational risks to the Executive Directors.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Group’s
annual results and interim results are announced on a timely
basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BT RS

Deloitte.
=20

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA VEHICLE COMPONENTS
TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to 129, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2013 and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2013, and of the Group’s financial profit and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 28, 2014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEakHMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
WiaE ARET T ARBTT
Revenue Wz 8 634,171 498,834
Cost of sales $HE A (501,659) (400,622)
Gross profit EF 132,512 98,212
Other income and expenses, HARBEY
other gains and losses Hub s R EE 9 31,168 5,979
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAX (37,678) (25,575)
Research and development e
expenditure (19,284) (17,600)
Administrative expenses TTHRAX (44,314) (36,483)
Finance costs BhE& B AN 10 (13,654) (13,317)
Profit before tax BT R A 11 48,750 11,216
Taxation BiiE 12 (9,455) (3,794)
Profit for the year F N F 39,295 7,422
Other comprehensive expense Ememms
Items that may be reclassified Bt @& 452
subsequently to profit or loss: Bm o IHA:
Exchange difference arising on MEPTEAEREH ERE
translation (265) (207)
Profit and total comprehensive FRRF N EEMALREE
income for the year 39,030 7,215
Earnings per share — Basic (RMB) FBREFN -ERK(ARE) 15 0.11 0.02
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BEIR R

At 31 December 2013
R-E—=—F+=H=+—H

2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat ARET T AREEF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MK 16 445,044 373,894
Prepaid lease payments FERHe 17 136,465 135,746
Deposits paid for acquisition of BATHERED RS
land use rights - 3,650
Deposits for acquisition of property, BEWE  BEMREIZS
plant and equipment 513 3,678
Interest in an associate R—EEE ARz R 18 2,500 -
Intangible assets | EE 19 412 861
Available for sale investment Al HERE
— unlisted limited partnership — 3k rmAREEAT 20 65,421 -
Goodwill EES 21 29,655 29,655
Deferred tax assets RIETIRE E 22 3,807 3,807
Trade receivables B 5 rEWRIE 24 - 10,053
683,817 561,344
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories ER—y 23 83,832 79,548
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk E i e Y zRIE 24 307,416 230,305
Prepaid lease payments A S 17 2,970 2,894
Restricted bank balances SR GIRTTAE &R 25 54,970 45,000
Bank balances and cash IRITEBR LIRS 25 52,400 26,300
501,588 384,047
TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 1,185,405 945,391
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Amount due to an associate FES— B R B FRIE 850 -
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMER A 26 324,538 279,161
Advance from customers RKEREZE8H 2,496 3,246
Borrowings — due within one year B — —F AT H 27 295,593 272,153
Income tax payable FESTERISHL 23,238 17,082
Deferred income EIEUA 28 865 928
Provisions BE 29 7,500 7,454
655,080 580,024
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEERE (153,492) (195,977)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABRABEE
LIABILITIES 530,325 365,367
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

At 31 December 2013
R-F—=FF+=-H=1+—H

2013 2012
—E-=5 —FT——F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
WiaE ARET T ARBTT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREAE
Borrowings — due after one year B ——FE% 27 135,203 74,000
Other payables E e RIE 26 1,048 1,496
Deferred income PEIELA 28 7,213 8,332
143,464 83,828
TOTAL LIABILITIES FEN=R 798,544 663,852
OWNERS' EQUITY BB AR
Share capital R A 30 31,318 26,217
Reserves B 355,543 255,322
TOTAL OWNERS' EQUITY BEEAEZER 386,861 281,539
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' BEREEAERES
EQUITY 1,185,405 945,391

The financial statements on pages 64 to 129 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March

FOAE129BA M BHRRBEFTEN _T—F
ZAZTNBHERRETE  WHATALR

2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. ZHAO Zhijun
DIRECTOR
EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREER

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=Ff+_A=+—HIFFZF

Share

capital/

paid-in Share
capital  premium
ks

BARE  ROEE
RMB'000  RMB'000

AR  ARETR

Reserves

Rl
Total
Capital Surplus Translation  Retained owners'
reserves  reserves reserve  earnings equity
BEA

BAfE BHRHE BERE REEF BHA}
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETR
(note a) {note b)

(Hiita) (i)

At 1 January 2012 R-E-—%-f-H 26,217 125,271
Profit for the year R - -
Exchange difference arising REHELESEE

on translation - -

42917 19,392 = 60,527 274,324
- - - 7422 1422
- - (207) - (207)

Profit and total comprehensive  ERER R2EUA

income for the year piak] - - - - (207) 7422 7215
Appropriations B - - - 1377 - (1,377) -
At 31 December 2012 and W_E-——F

1 January 2013 +ZA=+-8k

Z5-=%-A-H 26217 125,271 42917 20,769 (207) 66,572 281,639

Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 39,29 39,29
Exchange difference arising PERELELZR

on translation - - - = (265) = (265)

Profit and total comprehensive  FREH| K2 ERALE

income for the year - - - - (265) 39,29 39,030
Appropriations B - - - 4,331 - (4,331) -
Issue of new shares (Note 30) {73k (#z230) 5,101 61,191 - - - = 66,292
As at 31 December 2013 W_5-=F

+-A=1+-H 31,318 186,462 42,917 25,100 (472) 101,536 386,861
Notes: Hraz

(a)

The balance as at 1 January 2012 mainly arising from various
reorganisation to streamline the Group’s structure prior to the listing
of the Company'’s shares on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited in prior years.

The balance comprising statutory surplus reserve and discretionary
surplus reserve, which are non-distributable and the transfer to these
reserves is determined according to the relevant laws in the mainland
China (the “PRC") and by the board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries
in accordance with the Article of Associate of the subsidiaries. Statutory
surplus reserve can be used to make up for previous years' losses or
convert into additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company.

Discretionary surplus reserve can be used to expand the existing
operations of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries.

(a)

R-ZE——F— A RZEHRIBEREBEFEE
THZREME - NEARRRNEBREMSRXZM
ARARER LT B HREEARENIE

ZEEHREE A DIREETE BSRHE RIS RS
1 BRERBETOERDRIEFRBAE(F
B DAEARETRHTENBRARNESSRE
ZEWBARMAMERARRTE  EERMBFEEB
A A{ERAEFERRERAAR AR PENEBAR
EVRINEA o

BB RS EE R BERT AR F T EHERRRE
HYEERIR o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2%:— PN A~ —1

fia (=] IE:%/)ILE%%

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Profit before tax 5t Al A 48,750 11,216
Adjustments for: RAEH AT %
Amortisation of intangible assets B E 449 449
Depreciation of property, plant and YE R RERETE
equipment 14,468 15,130
Deferred income released to profit or loss BEEBRAPETE R A (1,182) (2,175)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, HEME - BEMRENERE
plant and equipment (Yezx) 20 (121)
Interest income T B WA (2,836) (1,580)
Interest expense FLERAE 13,654 13,317
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment T 5 W FE R
loss) recognised in respect of trade REEEOREESERR) -
receivables, net FE = 5,756
Impairment loss recognised in respect BLE M0 FE W R IR TR Y
of other receivables B E 1B 2,020 5117
Release of prepaid lease payments ACSELNEickn 2,965 2,163
Operating cash flows before movements LIEESEERIN
in working capital KEReRE 78,308 49,262
Increase in inventories FEiEm (4,284) (23,366)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 I EoAth FE U SR IE I A (69,344) (17,520)
Increase in trade and other payables & 5 I B Ath FE S FRIEIE AN 57,327 22,667
Increase (decrease) in advance from RERFPH
customers AR IO (750) 2,061
Cash generated from operations LERBIRE 61,257 33,104
Income tax paid BFTSH (3,299) (3,613)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (S ZEBIfi8H 4% 57,958 29,491
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Additions of property, plant and equipment NEWE - BE L&A (76,444) (91,511)
Grants received in relation to acquisition TUEME BENZREZEWE
of property, plant and equipment EE - 825
Interest received BT B 2,836 1,580
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEN
plant and equipment RAEPTSFIE 552 451
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, BT - BE K&
plant and equipment REEES (4,211) (17,243)
Payment for acquisition of land use rights W HE - b 58 A RE 2 SR - (3,650)
Purchase of prepaid lease payment BEREMES (110) =
Net cash inflow from acquisition of W —RT B AR 2
a subsidiary (Note 36) WERAFRE(M:736) = 795
Placement of restricted bank deposits TR SR TER (54,970) (98,000)
Release of restricted bank deposits BRBR SR B IRITIF X 45,000 94,985
Investment in an associate R—EBE QAR ZEE (2,500) =
Investment in available for sales investment  Ra[H{HERE ZKE (65,421) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®REZEFFABREESEEE (155,268) (111,768)
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2013 2012

—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Increment in amount due to a associate FEfF— & A R 2 FOEE N 850 -
Interest paid ERFE (28,375) (22,987)
New borrowings raised FrigfEs 391,936 219,943
Proceeds from issue of new shares BT RS TS5k IE 66,292 -
Repayment of borrowings BEENR (307,293) (211,000)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING BMETE(FTA) B2
ACTIVITIES HEHEE 123,410 (14,044)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HEeRBESEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EMCRA ) B5 26,100 (96,321)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNBREeRRESEEY
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 26,300 122,621
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FREESRBLSEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 52,400 26,300
Cash and cash equivalents represented by ReEMIREEEY
Bank balances and cash BURITHERA RIS 52,400 26,300
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GENERAL

The Company is incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 27 April 2011.
Its immediate parent is Wealth Max Holdings Limited
(“Wealth Max") (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)
and its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Wilson Sea (also
known as Xi Chun Ying) and other individuals who have
agreed to act-in-concert. The registered office and principal
place of the Company is set out in section under heading
of “Corporate Information”) of the annual report. The
shares of the Company has been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with effect from 23 November 2011.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 35.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the principal subsidiaries of the
Company operate.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately RMB153,492,000. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into account
the available banking facilities and internal financial
resources of the Group, the Group has sufficient working
capital for its present requirements that is for at least the
next twelve months commencing from the date of the
consolidated financial statements. Hence, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.
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2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

—RER
ARBRZE——FHAZ+tHRHAEE
EBHAMKIAEREERAR - HEEGQ
7] AWealth Max Holdings Limited([Wealth
Max] - REBELZESTMAL) RE&KK
% HI 77 B Wilson SeaZt £ (& BREEDEL
E)REMRAE—BITEMNAL - RAFHFE
MREENETBLEMBERNFRIQAAE
B—&1 c ARAEWNRNE =T ——F+—H
ZT=BRREBBERIMERAF([5H
AT ER T -

RRBRREZERAR - HB AR T E
EIFEDINHIFESE ©

RAMBHRRARNRAIEMNBRAKLEE
BREIZELERENEEARK(TAR
G EDER I

MBBRREREE

RZB—=F+-A=+—8  A£EE R
BEEFELHARE153,492,0007C ° AR
REERA  ZERITHARTAREELAR
SERNMHBER  AEBAEERVRLEER
- DERNE B4RE M WmE B B R R
DHZEARREEE - At - 456 MBW
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Group has
consistently adopted the Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"), Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), amendments and interpretations (“HK(IFRIC)
— Int”), which are effective for the accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2013.

The application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not early adopted the following new and
revised standards, amendments and interpretations that
have been issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"”) but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment Entities!
HKFRS 12and HKAS 27

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

Contributions?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Mandatory Effective Date of
and HKFRS 7 HKFRS 9 and Transition

Disclosures?

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities'

Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets’

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting’

Annual improvements to HKFRSs
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

3.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014

3 Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be
determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with
limited exceptions

5 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on
or after 1 January 2016

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of these new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations will have no material impact on the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use
in HKAS 36.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e |evel 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013

BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved
where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income from the effect date
of acquisition.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full upon consolidation.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of an associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Appropriate adjustments have been
made to conform the associate’s accounting policies to
those of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Interest in an associate (Cont’d)

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013

TESHBRGE)

REERNB 2w (&)

RIBHEE  NBEE R RIS IV TIRK
ARERA AN RINER - HRIELFE -
NERAREE A ZE QRN BEE MEME
E i ER o MAKBEPTEEE QR MNERBEH
HATEZE AR s (BRER LEKA
SERBERARNREFE-BoNEMNR
Hifgs) - AIRNREBURREMIGE T8
B BINBRERARBCELZRIEE
BESRRZEE R RN 2B THER °

REERR 2 REBRIRE T KA E R F
& HRERAERATE o

AEBECEABRB S ERFER 2 HRE -
NAEEREFERARERBEATZEK
ERAEAREBE - MFE - ZREEH
REE(RERE) DEREBETBEENS
BRMEERE - FRE-EELTHER
A TDEARKGHEAKEER(ERERRAT
ERLERAME 2L SE) BEKREEL
B o PTHER Z BEBBRBKIE REE— &
7 o RIBFBEFHERFEI65HER - BIEE
BREARETKWESERRENZBERT

=7
o °©

Z

/I

fisd — SR B B fE B LB 8 N BT
BERNRRGELEZBHEEERN
MG MRFER - EARZBE R
REEEBERR -

Bt 2
Al
/1

a

I B+ Kb

=
;
K

N W
]@.
25
B 0>



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of
sales related taxed.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time
all the following conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

e it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount
of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is
accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XESBER(E)

(Cont’d)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense over
the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

Acquisition of assets through acquisition of a
subsidiary

Where an acquisition of an asset or a group of assets does
not constitute a business, the Group identify and recognise
the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed by allocating the purchase price to the individual
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i. e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statements of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

4. TESHBERE)

SN (E)

IERMGAMBRE  ARBEBINEBKZE
ERBEENERENRERANERRES
AEE 2788 (BIARE) - e R 8 A
BERNZFHEXRBE - EXZZH(WA)
REMEHMPARR N EREFEHET 2
SmRET

BRARA

WiE - ZERLEEAEREE(IREZ —RE
REEGHEESERERENAHEENE
)M B R B E RN A AZEEENK
A BEERSTEEARLCAUEERERSZ
KAHHEERL

FrA BB fE SRR AN EE L IR AR RS
WHERR °

BT RS

BRIEBE S IRHEE AN B A B B S R
RS WMEBRENE - BRBF@HBTT
TR ©

BT B Tyt A S ERER B A R S (FE AT
B AT HK SE AR ANBE ) AR IR R L R ER B
PR BEWME  HEXERMAREEA
BE - ZXSUEM I RRBIERDEEN
R R A B B R P IR FER AR T
WA - WiIRAEEERFERFHIEZRG S
PR IS o

BT MERMEXHREBEENE
B A DRETARERBIEIEMER
- BERRERRA - AIERE RN IE
ST HER

FEEREBERRERERAT
—T=FFRH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XESBER(E)

(Cont’d)

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
are recognised as expenses when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction
in progress) are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XESBER(E)

(Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Intangible assets (Cont’d)

Intangible assets acquired separately (Cont'd)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured at the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
(Cont’d)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont’d)

Research and development expenditure (Cont’d)
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition,
internally-generated intangible asset is measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as intangible
assets acquired separately.

Prepaid lease payments
Prepaid lease payments representing land use rights in
the PRC are stated at cost and amortised on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms. Prepaid lease payments which
are to be amortised in the next twelve months or less are
classified as current assets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XESBER(E)

(Cont’d)

Share-based payment

For shares granted to senior management by the
shareholders (i.e. Founders), the fair value of the employee
services received is determined by reference to the fair
value of shares granted at the grant date and recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the shares
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding amount
recognised in capital reserve as deemed contribution from
owners.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities of fair
value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified as available-for-
sale (“AFS") financial assets and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees or points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables,
restricted bank balances and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated as available-for-sale or are not classified as (a)
loans and receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c)
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market
price in an active market and whose fair value cannot
be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to
and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity
investments are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the investment have
been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counter
party; or

e Dbreach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

e it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. XESBER(E)

(Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and
other receivables, assets that are assessed not be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the assets’ carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had
the impairment not been recognised.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

Financial instruments (Cont'd)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont‘d)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods
(see the accounting policy below).

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the
group entities are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

The Group’s financial liabilities, which include trade and
other payables and borrowings are initially measured at fair
value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FE=TEHE(E)
(Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont’d) SRITAE)
Derecognition JERRTERR

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 4, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group's management determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the
actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are
expected to be shorter than estimated, or it will write-
off or write-down obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Change in these
estimations may have a material impact on the results
of the Group. Details of the movement of property,
plant and equipment and the estimated useful lives are
set out in Note 16.

(b) Estimated impairment of trade and other
receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. The carrying
amount of trade and other receivables is set out in
Note 24. No reversal of the allowance for doubtful
trade debts (2012: a reversal of RMB244,000) was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2013.
Impairment loss of Nil (2012: RMB6,000,000) and
RMB2,020,000 (2012: RMB5,117,000) in respect of
trade receivables and other receivables, respectively,
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2013.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(c) Impairment of inventories
The Group records inventories at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Net realisation value is the
estimated selling price for inventories, less all the
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sales.

Operational procedures have been in place to monitor
this risk, including regular review by the management
of the inventory ageing listing on a periodical basis
for those aged inventories. This involves comparison
of carrying value of the aged inventory items with
the respective net realisable value. The purpose is to
ascertain whether allowance is required to be made for
any obsolete and slow-moving items. If the selling price
is lower than expected, additional allowance would be
recognised. The carrying amount of inventories is set
out in Note 23. No provision or reversal of provision for
obsolete and slow-moving inventories (2012: Nil) was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2013.

(d) Provision for warranty claims

Provision for warranty is made based on the possible
claims on the products by customers with reference
to the warranty coverage period and the percentage of
warranty expenses incurred over total sales amounts
historically. In case where the actual claims are
greater than expected, a material increase in warranty
expenses may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the period in which such a claim takes
place. The carrying amount of provision for warranty is
set out in Note 29.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont'd)

(e) Estimated impairment on goodwill
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, further
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2013,
the carrying amount of goodwill was RMB29,655,000
(2012: RMB29,655,000) and no impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2012 and
2013. Details of the impairment testing on goodwill are
disclosed in Note 21.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts
(which include borrowings), cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital, share premium, capital and surplus reserves,
and retained earnings.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a periodical basis. As part of the review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a)

(b)

Categories of financial instruments

7 £€®TH

(a)

Financial instrument

SWMIAER

Carrying amount at
31 December

RtZA=+—BMNREE

classification 2013 2012
EMIADE —F-=F —F=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFIT
Financial assets
SREE
Trade and other receivables* Loans and receivables 303,374 225,813
B 5 N e IE* BER R EWRIA
Restricted bank balances Loans and receivables 54,970 45,000
ZIRHIRITEEER B R EWGRIE
Bank balances and cash Loans and receivables 52,400 26,300
RITHEBR RIS BRI RIE
410,744 297,113
Financial liabilities
N =R
Trade and other payables** At amortised cost 287,212 256,202
B 5 K RERTRIR* RERHR AR
Borrowings — due within one year At amortised cost 295,593 272,153
B — —FREIH TRHRHR AR
Borrowings — due after one year At amortised cost 135,203 74,000
Bk — —F2 3 H TR SE AR
718,008 602,355

*

Excluded advances to suppliers and prepayments.

**  Excluded payroll and welfare payables, other tax payable and

accruals.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The management monitors and manages the financial
risks relating to the operations of the Group through
internal risk assessment which analyses exposures
by degree and magnitude of risks. The risks included
market risk (including interest rate risk and currency
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Cont’d)
(i) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk on the variable rate of interest earned on
the restricted bank balances and bank balances.
The Group’s borrowings have fixed interest rates
and therefore, are subject to fair value interest rate
risk.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for restricted
bank balances and bank balances as the financial
impact arising on changes in interest rates was
minimal.

The Group monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

(ii) Currency risk

Certain bank balances and other borrowing of
the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and Euro. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign

7 SWMIAE)

(b) £RAKREEBEREE(E)

(i) FIEmEE

MEEBRA-BESRTANQTE
SR RIR & i & 15 B T 35 ) R o
MRE AT KRR - AREERX
PR Il SR 1T A BR AR AT A4S BR AT BRER Y
) 5RO ) 2= Bl 2 1y D 43R 2R & A
K\ o ANER B RS SRARIE A &
e MERAFENERRTE -

MR R BB ELNM BT EM
BE - MU BB RBIRITAER R
IRITHERRBLGURE D -

AEBERNXEAR  IHRGE
R B EARM AL -

(i) EHmpE

REBE TRITAERREAMERTY
BT ([BT]) RETTEHE - A%
B AT NS SRR o A
EREERINERR  WKRBE
R B ERINERER

REREEIR - REEIMNEETER
currency denominated monetary assets at the end EMEENREEDT
of the reporting period are as follows:
2013 2012
—E-=F —T——4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%ET R ARETTT
Bank balances RITHEER
— HK$ — BT 107 1,867
— Euro — BT 1,321 5,029
1,428 6,896
Other borrowing — HK$ HAbER T (6,936) (7,153)

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for the
currency risk as the financial impact arising on
changes in foreign exchange rates was minimal.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(c) Credit risk

7 $WMIAE)
(c) EERMR

As at 31 December 2013, the Group’'s maximum
exposure to credit risk which cause financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a
customer or third party to a financial asset fails to meet
its contractual obligations. At 31 December 2013,
the Group had concentration of credit risk on trade
receivables as 51.9% (2012: 87.6%) of total trade
receivables were due from top 10 customers.

The Group manages this risk by reviewing the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and
other debt at the end of reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.

The Group's sales to customers are mainly on an
average credit period of 90 days, whereby the Group
extended one-off credit terms of 18 to 24 months to
certain particular customers as detailed in Note 24. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the extended credit
terms are only granted to large-scale original automobile
manufacturers based on the creditworthiness and the
Group’s existing relationships with the customers. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties comprise of a number of banks which
are state-owned banks located in the PRC or those
with good reputation and high credit ratings assigned
by PRC or international credit-rating agencies.

The Group had concentration of credit risk by
geographical location as trade receivables and bills
receivables comprise various debtors which are all
located in PRC during the year ended 31 December
2012 and 2013.

Other than the concentration of the credit risk on trade
receivables, bills receivables, restricted bank balances
and bank balances, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(d) Liquidity risk

7 SWMIAE)
(d) FENE R

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
closely monitors its cash position resulting from its
operations and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due for
the foreseeable future. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately RMB153,492,000 (2012:
RMB195,977,000). This exposes the Group to liquidity
risk if the Group could not fulfill its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due for the
next twelve months from the issuance date of these
consolidated financial statements after taking into
consideration of (i) available undrawn bank facilities
amounting to approximately RMB281,000,000 as at
31 December 2013 (2012: RMB321,000,000) and (ii)
internal generated funds.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities as at the
end of reporting period. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)
(d) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
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7. SWMIAE)
(d) REMERREE)

Liquidity and interest risk tables TEMER FIEE 7
Weighted
average
effective 3 months Undiscounted
interest Within to 1-2 2-5 Over cash  Carrying
rate 3 months 1 year years years 5 years flows amount
it 337 =f8A AR
L YIES =R -5 -EERE  WMEREE fizchita BeRE EfE
RMB'000 RIMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RIMB000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR AEBIT  ARETR
As at 31 December 2013  R=%-=%
t=R=t-A
Trade and other payables ~ ZHRAkENE - 207,764 76,057 1,803 - - 285,624 285,624
Other payables to employees ErESHEHEE 36 = 566 336 583 356 1841 1,588
Borrowings {2 6.6 68,034 248,929 47406 105,624 - 469,993 430,79
275,798 325,552 49,545 106,207 356 757,458 718,008
Asat 31 December 2012 R=%-=%
+ZA=1-H
Trade and other payables ~ 25REHERZE = 231,020 22,9% = = = 54016 254016
QOther payables to employees EftEE#E A 36 - 726 566 787 489 2,568 2,186
Borrowings &7 6.9 15,717 212,261 41,683 38,397 - 368,058 346,153
206,737 295,983 42,249 39,184 489 624,642 602,355

(e) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
is determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The management considers that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements

approximate their fair values.

Annual Report 2013
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Products within each operating segment
The segment information reported was determined by
the types of products and the types of customers to
which the products are sold, which is consistent with
the internal information that are regularly reviewed
by the executive directors of the Company, who are
the chief operating decision makers (the “CODM") of
the Group, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance.

The Group has two reportable and operating segments
as follows:

e OEM Market ("OEM") — manufacturing and selling
of automobile shock absorber and suspension
system products to the automobile market of
original automobile manufacturers.

e Automobile Aftermarket — manufacturing and
selling of automobile shock absorber and
suspension system products to the secondary
market of the automobile industry.

(b) Segment revenue and segment results

8. Wk APER

(a)

(b)

Segment revenue

BEESIHANER
A D ER HAERBIRES
EmmMEFPRUETE - LWEEARKE
TELERRATIBREERRADK
ARREETEREHAD BLER I
REHNEERABLRT o

REBHEEATMIET2HLE DA -

s RRBREMMHE(IRRBRIE
Bl - RERARAERERTS
HEAERIRES MBRARER

o AEEETH-WERAABTE
B = 45 4K 8 BRI 2 BB
RRER -

2B R K B BB AE

Segment results

pan:l 6 DEPEE
2013 2012 2013 2012
ZB—=f —T—-F ZB-=f —ZT—=-F
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AREBTT AR®STR ARETT
OEM R RERS 565,403 445,137 116,072 82,300
Automobile Aftermarket AEEETS 68,768 53,697 16,440 15,912
Total segment and DECEEE AR A
consolidated 634,171 498,834 132,512 98,212
Other income and expenses, E g A &FI
other gains and losses Hip s K E5 18 31,168 5,979
Selling and distribution HERDHAS
expenses (37,678) (25,575)
Research and development  #3%s7 H
expenditure (19,284) (17,600)
Administrative expenses TR (44,314) (36,483)
Finance costs R AR (13,654) (13,317)
Profit before tax R Bt BT A 48,750 11,216
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—T=FFRH




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Segment revenue and segment results (Cont’d)
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from sales of goods to external customers. There
was no inter-segment sales during the year ended 31
December 2012 and 2013.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies disclosed
in Note 4. Segment results represent the gross profit
of each operating segment, conforming to the same
measurement reported to the CODM for the purposes
of resources allocation and performance assessment.

Other than the segment revenue and segment profit
analysis presented above, information about assets
and liabilities was not regularly provided to the
CODM. Hence, no segment asset or segment liability
information is presented.

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in the PRC (country of
domicile of the operating subsidiaries). No material
non-current assets of the Group are located outside the
PRC.

Over 95% of the Group’'s revenue from external
customers is derived from the PRC (country of domicile
of the operating subsidiaries).

Information about major customers
Revenue from major customers which accounts for
10% or more of the Group's revenue are as follows:

8. WEKkDIEHR (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)

DEBWER D EEE(E)

LA E2RREERHEEER TINPEP
EXfNRE - BE_T——FR_FT
— =+ - A=+—HI-FEBREST
FEEHE -

LE D) B AT BUR M S APT B M AR
SEGFBORER - D HMERARSLE
DEREERN o B D BEER M ERSR
B H) R B2 ERE A BT EIR
B ABF

BRPA b 25187 SR Uk a8 S 0 BB A D AT
Sh - WAREHMAETELERRARME
MEENBEBENER - RtEE25E
Mo HBEES DA RE °

135 &
AEBTENTEEE(LEMBRAN
AEMBER) c AEESESAERBEE
AR B LASM [ ©

REBERBIMNBEFABKREESIB%
TEFE(EEMB R RIMEMER) -

EFRETEEFNER
(EAREERZZI0%HIALNKREETER
FryzsnT

2013 2012

—E—=F —E——F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETFTT

OEM — Customer A RS BERER —BFA 107,107 89,518
OEM - Customer B [RE&EEERE — K FB 93,412 71,771
OEM - Customer C [RFERER —FPC 67,872 N/A T3 *
OEM - Customer D R fERER — =D 66,168 N/A 3 *

*  The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of
the total sales of the Group for the respective year.
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GAINS AND LOSSES

9. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, OTHER 9. HMW AKX - HttlhZKEE

2013 2012
—E-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Allowance for doubtful trade debts B RIREE - (6,000)
Allowance for doubtful other debts H A RAREE (2,020) (5,117)
Donation B (1,619) (5)
Exchange loss 0 5 &8 (239) =
Government grants (note) IRATHE BN (47 57) 21,918 10,124
Gain from scrap sales BERHE & ek 4,115 4,241
(Loss) gain on disposal of property, plant  H&EWE - BE&
and equipment RER (B8 Was (20) 121
Income from suppliers on defects claim R EEERIHEREBRZULA - 691
Interest income from bank deposits KB RITERIFELA 2,836 1,580
Others Hitw 3,702 (2,863)
Reversal of allowance for doubtful B SRR EREE
trade debts = 244
Release of asset-related government fRBR B E EE AR
grants (Note 26) RITHE B (H17726) 1,182 2,175
Storage services income ERERBA 1,313 788
31,168 5,979

Note:

Included in the amount is grants of approximately RMB21,918,000
(2012: RMB10,124,000) being incentives received by Nanyang
Cijan for the eminent contribution in technology development and
encouragement of business development. These grants are accounted
for as immediate financial support with no future related costs nor
related to any assets.

Haz -

ZEEOEEEINREE RS RSB EREE
FERBRZMERS 2 ZEKARK21,918,0007T
(ZZ——%5F: AR¥10,124,0007T) ° tZ#BN D
ANRIWWEEEMSED) - TP REMKRBHAER
SR ER(E & R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BEE KA
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT AREFIT
Interest on: LA &IEHALE
Bank borrowings wholly repayable within ~ ZBRAbF REEEEH
five years RITER 28,164 21,445
Entrusted loans wholly repayable within ARBF NEEEED
five years ZFEER = 2,527
Other borrowings wholly repayable within ~ ZBREFEREBHEERN
five years H B 211 215
28,375 24,187
Accretion on other payables (Note 26) H A E N FIER ERTE A
(Htit26) 128 187
28,503 24,374
Less: Amounts capitalised B BME R (14,849) (11,057)
13,654 13,317

Interest has been capitalised at the rate of interest
applicable to the specific borrowings financing the assets
under construction, or, where financed through general
borrowings, at a capitalisation rate representing the average
interest rate on such borrowings.

NECERMBNERZEEMTESNERIG
B2 M ERERE - S fiiF B — AR R
NEE - ARERERNFHMERERE -

2013 2012

—E—=£F —E——F

% %

Capitalisation rate B 6.59 6.45-8.10
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11.

12.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 11. BRBLUAT & F

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging BRI ATEAMD G (5 A) ¢
(crediting):
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Employee benefits expenses (including EERAFZ(BEES) :
directors):
— salaries and other benefits — e REMER] 54,500 39,714
— retirement benefit scheme contributions — — 3R ki@ FIETEIH % 7,914 7,091
Total staff costs @8 TR 62,414 46,805
Auditor’s remuneration 2 S Bl 7 B 1,674 1,706
Amortisation of intangible assets (included #F&E#E(BIEEITE
in administrative expenses) X A) 449 449
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses & &2 5 X M1F S/ A
(included in cost of sales and research (BREHERA K&
and development expenditure) T A) 507,763 410,857
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - WE REEITE
equipment 14,468 15,130
Release of prepaid lease payments AN S 2,965 2,153
TAXATION 12. HiIE
2013 2012
—E-=5F —E—-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥F T ARET T
Tax expense comprises: HIBFRZ BE
Current tax expense BNEAFR E R X 9,455 4,694
Deferred tax credit (Note 22) BT IBIR R (f:322) = (900)
9,455 3,794
The current income tax expense for the year ended 31 H=E —FErR_T—=F+_A=+—
December 2012 and 2013 represents the PRC enterprise HItFER A EME B 8RBt EM1S
income tax which is calculated at the prevailing tax rate on o ZBIBTIBR T E A EEE BRI ERT
the taxable income of the group entities in the PRC. Under WARIRITIREGTE o REBEH BB ERSH
the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT E(RERMFRED REEMEEIENE
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the R A= N\F—A— B - PR
tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January NEIMNER25% °

2008 onwards.

The Company and Merit Leader were incorporated in KX 7] & Merit LeaderiA B 7B @ A (LR FT 15
jurisdictions under which they are not subject to any Btz Al EREE FEM AR AL
income tax.

FEEREBERRERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

12. TAXATION (Cont'd) 12. RE(E)

Guang Da Automotive was incorporated in Hong Kong and
has had no assessable profit subject to Hong Kong Profits
Tax since its incorporation.

Way Assauto Srl was incorporated in Italy and has had
no assessable profit subject to any profits tax since its
incorporation.

On 15 December 2009, Nanyang Cijan obtained “High and
New Technology Enterprise” status for 3 years that entitles
Nanyang Cijan a preferential tax rate of 15% for the period
from 2011 to 2013 according to the PRC tax law. Nanyang
Cijan renewed its “High and New Technology Enterprise”
status in November 2013 and was accredited to 15%
preferential tax rate for an extended period up to 2015.

Other PRC established group entities did not have any
taxable profit for the year ended 31 December 2012 and
2013.

The tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2012
and 2013 can be reconciled to the profit before tax
per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

KA HERBBEMAL - AR
B 5 SL LA S LA 1B R BV 715 52
EBOEF o

Way Assauto SR EAFEMAY - mEH
FEMACSZ AR I 4 B SR % I B SRR
FIESHL -

RZBZAF+ZA+THA - BENERE
[BRHREE M - RIBPEBDE - BB
BEE=FHRBEE H_T——F2_F
—=ZFR15%NEER T - @ HAR
R-B—=F+-AEBEE[SRREE i
7 - BIR15%EERXHHNBRERE—
T—HEF o

HRFBEK I SEEEREBEE_S—=
ER_E—=F+_RA=+—RIFEILE
R FERL & A o

HE_Z——FR-_F—=F+=-A=+—
BIEFEMRREGEER M EMmEERE
FATRBREB AR FE BRI ¢

2013 2012

—E—=£f —ET——F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREF T

Profit before tax R A% A& A 48,750 11,216

Tax at 25% #225% M R EHTIR 12,188 2,804

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRB E RN RG22 1,822 73
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for — RaJHNFL G ARG S 2

tax purpose 4,853 5,896
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BEFHRIRANRSTE

purpose (479) (228)
Tax effect of additional qualified expenses  ZE/NE R AT HIFL B #Y

deductible for tax purpose (note) g2 (Hiz) (2,589) (1,977)
Effect of tax concessions granted to M RS A R R IE

a PRC subsidiary BENTE (6,340) (2,709)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not BB A AR RN B TE S8

recognised - (65)

9,455 3,794

Note: The amount represents additional 50% income tax deduction in Hiat - e BIERFANMEES ERART HNE

respect of qualifying research and development expenditures HIN50% FT{S R+ ©

incurred for the year.
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13.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid to the directors of the
Company, include the Chief Executive of the Group,
for the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 are as
follow:

13. B  TRARBRESHMH

(a) EEM=

He—_%—

TFERZE—=Z%+_"A8

=t—ALEFERARRAER(BEAS
BITHRAE) M EFFEIT

2013 2012
—E—=£ —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Directors’ o
- fees —g 1,256 1,277
— salaries and other benefits —¥e MEMEF 728 264
— discretionary bonus* — YIS TEAT* 1,095 1,180
- retirement benefits scheme —iRIRERFTEHE R
contributions 31 17
3,110 2,738
The emoluments of the directors on a named basis are BURBTRNESMEST ¢
as follows:
2013 2012
—E—=F —E—CF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Mr. Zhao Zhi Jun HEEELE 1,090 889
Ms. Wang Wen Bo TR E 589 528
Ms. Yang Wei Xia BEELZL 654 532
Mr. Fu Peng Xu MEREE(N=ZZE——F
(appointed on 22 May 2012) FAZ+-BEZEE) 115 117
Mr. Xie Qing Xi HBELRE(RZE—Z=F
(appointed on 22 May 2012) FA-+-BEZEE) 115 117
Mr. Xi Chun Ying BHEDEE(R=_S——4F
(appointed on 27 August 2012) NAZ+EHEZME) 115 117
Mr. Zhang Jin Hua REEXE(RZT——F
(appointed on 19 October 2012) T+ATNBEEZE) 144 146
Mr. Li Zhi Qiang HREE(R-_T——F
(appointed on 19 October 2012) +A+LBERE) 144 146
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus REZRFEE(RZE—ZF
(appointed on 19 October 2012) +A+HBEEEZE) 144 146
3,110 2,738

Mr. Zhao Zhi Jun is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

HEERENRRARRZITHAE - EXIK
BEME Y EREREERTTBAAR MRS

BB o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

13.DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 13. &= - THHARKRESHM(Z)
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (Cont’d)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME
The five highest paid individuals of the Group for the HE-E-—=F+-_A=+—81tF
year ended 31 December 2013 included 3 (2012: 3) B AEENAEESFALTEE=S
directors. The remunerations of the five highest paid —E-FZR)EBEF - AAEREH
individuals are as follows: ATHEBNT -
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFIT
Employees EE
— salaries and other benefits — e REMEF 2,346 1,658
— discretionary bonus* —BBTEA 1,512 1,470
- retirement benefits scheme — RIRRA GBI
contributions 49 32
3,907 3,160
Their emoluments were within the following bands: BENHEN FTLATEE -
2013 2012
—E—-=fF —E——4F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0008 7T
(equivalents to approximately Nil (HBERNZTE
to RMB799,000) AR #799,0007T) 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/87LE
(equivalents to approximately 1,500,000/ 7T (FEZE M 4
RMB799,001 to RMB1,198,000) AR®799,0017tE
AE#1,198,0007T) 2 2
5 B
During the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2013, BHE-ZE-——_Fk-F—=F1+=A
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of =+—HIFE  AEEBERARQF
the directors of the Company or the five highest paid FRESIAERETATINHE -
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the LAYE A DA SN AR 5 [ 14 1Y 52 B =X B
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of BR@EE BHEZT——FR=_FT—=
the directors of the Company waived any remuneration F+-A=1+—RHIFE  BEEIK
during the year ended 31 December 2012 and 2013. (Tl o
*  The discretionary bonus is determined having regard to * BIBIATIBHARRFTMNEE S RIEZE
the performance and market trend by the remuneration BERTRERE °

committee of the Company.
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14. DIVIDENDS

15.

14. KB

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended REEZZT—=Fk=_FT—Z=-F+=A
31 December 2013 and 2012, nor has any dividend been =+—BIEFE  SIERANRBIRRES - W
proposed since the end of the reporting period. B3 E AR AR ERERERRE ©
EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BREXRZNTIRBATEEE -
following data:
2013 2012
—E-=fF —E——F
Earnings X
Profit for the year attributable to owners HERELBFMEZ
of the Company for the purpose of basic RABEE AEM
earnings per share (RMB'000) FRRNARETT) 39,295 7,422
Number of shares B
Weighted average number of ordinary HERELRFMEZ
shares for the purpose of basic earnings A I S 8
per share 358,575,342 320,000,000
No diluted earnings per share are presented as there was HREFASEZ RS PR ETMEITE
no potential ordinary share outstanding during the year or as INBIEE B - R 25| GREERT

at the end of reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. 1% - BMERRE
Furniture, Construction
Motor fixture and in
Buildings vehicles equipment Machinery  progress Others Total
B %8
I &2 RE R HaE ERIR Hit ait

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETRT ARETR ARETR

(Note)
i3
COST BA
At 1 January 2012 WZE-—F—F—H 54,138 6,540 4154 137,950 54,899 10,314 267,995
Additions NE 341 3,198 826 9,974 179,187 1,303 194,829
Disposal HE = (437) - (240) - - 677)
At 31 December 2012and  R=Z——%F
1 January 2013 TZA=+-Ak
“Z-=f-f-H 54,479 9,301 4,980 147,684 234,086 11,617 462,147
Additions NE 279 2,206 429 8,853 73,001 1,422 86,190
Transfer from CIP BERTRER 172,631 2,376 194 89,728 (299,183) 34,254 -
Disposal hE - (230) 4) (1,129) - - (1,363)
At 31 December 2013 R-E-=%
+-A=1+—H 227,389 13,653 5,599 245,136 7,904 47,293 546,974
ACCUMULATED 2iHE
DEPRECIATION
At1 January 2012 WoZ-—£-f—F (6,195) (1,539) (1,883) (59,812) - (4,041) (73,470)
Provided for the year ERAEE (1,560) (699) (468) (11,671) = (732) (15,130)
Eliminated on disposals P E RS - 179 - 168 - - 347
At 31 December 2012 and  R=E——%
1 January 2013 +-A=+-Ak
“T-=%-f-H (7,755) (2,059) (2,351) (71,315) = (4,773) (88,253)
Provided for the year FEREE (1,566) (962) (460) (10,863) = (617) (14,468)
Eliminated on disposal I ERFE 8 - 82 2 707 - - 79
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F
+-A=t-H (9,321) (2,939) (2,809) (81,471) = (5,390) (101,930)
CARRYING VALUES RHE
At 31 December 2013 R=E-=%
+-R=1+-H 218,068 10,714 2,790 163,665 7,904 41,903 445,044
At 31 December 2012 R-B-——&
+ZR=1+-H 46,724 71,242 2,629 76,369 234,086 6,844 373,8%4
Note: Others mainly comprise various ancillary structures including Kiet - EFERESENBBEY  BEEE -
wires, circuits and drainages etc. BEERKESE -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-

17.

16. 13 - BERRE (&)
BRERZTRENIN Bl - BE KiimEA
B &R R EGETRIREER - RTIERHE

line basis over the following estimated useful lives taking REHNEGEENE
into account of their estimated residual value:
Buildings Over the shorter of the term of gF FHHEAS30F
lease, or 30 years (AEEE %)
Motor vehicles 5-10 years AE 5-10%F
Furniture, fixture and Over the shorter of the term of R - HBRERE  HEASS-T7F
equipment lease or 5-7 years (@R SE =Y
Machinery 1-15 years M 1-15%F
Others 3-20 years i) 3-204F
PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. B4 E
RMB'000
ARET T
At 1 January 2012 R-E——F—A—H 102,998
Additions NE 37,795
Charged for the year FRHER (2,153)
At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 RZE——F+-A=+—HRK
—E-=%—H—H 138,640
Additions NE 3,760
Charged for the year FARHE (2,965)
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+=-A=+—H 139,435
2013 2012
—E-=fF —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%T T ARETTT
Analysed for reporting purposes: BLEIRE BT -
Current assets MENEE 2,970 2,894
Non-current assets IERBEE 136,465 135,746
139,435 138,640

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise medium-
term leasehold land located in the PRC. Prepaid lease
payments are released to profit or loss over the lease terms
ranging between 48 to 50 years.

AEBENBENES SRR P BT HHELD
HE L - BHNEESRN F48E50FHFEH

NERERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

18.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. REE&E AR Z s
2013
—E-=5F
RMB’000
ARET
Cost of unlisted investment in an associate B A RIIE ETRE 2 2,500
Share of result and other comprehensive income — H{EEE & H 2 ERE -
2,500
During the year, A1) IR IRES B BR A 7] Xijiang Xichuang FA - HIMIRIREBR 2B ()1 ) R
Shock Absorber Company Limited (the “Xijiang”) was ':P B afﬂﬁﬁZK?%AEﬁMO 000,000
established in the PRC with a registered capital of e ERIRSE TR RE R E R -
RMB10,000,000 and is engaged in the manufacturing /’W ”EEZK%%@&% 2REEDHHEE25%
and sales of shock absorber component products. Xijiang NT75% o REEEENITTREATE
is owned as to 25% by the Group and 75% by another N REAEBEREMN I WERSIZAA
investor. The Group is able to exercise significant influence FREIRS - ZENBEEN)I =ZREEH S
over Xijiang because it has the power to appoint one out of —%& -
the [three] directors of Xijiang under the provisions stated
in the Articles of Association of Xijiang.
Summarised financial information in respect of Xijiang, T XX A BT | B s A R - BB IRE S
representing amounts shown in associate’s financial B RS R FT R BB & N B I IS SRR TR
statements prepared in conformity with HKFRSs is as B8
below:
2013
—E-=fF
RMB’000
AR®T T
Current assets mBNEE 9,145
— cash and cash equivalent -RekBeEEY 30
Non-current assets FEMENEEE 3,229
Current liabilities mEEE (2,375)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE -
Revenue Weas 3,589
Profit (loss) for the year F AT (E5E) 1
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 mikes -
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18.INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Cont'd)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Xijiang

18. REF&E N T 2R (&)

recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as

XA 15 B RN R B I TS SRR AT RE
RO | s 2 FREE SRR T

below:
2013
—E-=F
RMB’000
ARETT
Net assets of Xijiang Mz BEFE 10,000
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in AREBEPMN) I 2 A g I
Xijiang 25%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in Xijiang,  ZN&EBEFM) || 2 #2527 BREE
adjusting by unrealised profit BRI G F A 2,500
19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. B &=
Customer
relationship Patents Total
EFRE% =57 st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTTT ARETT ARBT T
cosT B
At 1 January 2012, 31 December R-ZE——F—F—H
2012 and 31 December 2013 —T——F
T A=+—HBUK
TE—=4F
+=—A=+—8H 3,693 (51)5) 4,148
AMORTISATION e
At 1 January 2012 RN-ZT——F—HF—H (2,283) (555) (2,838)
Charge for the year FRHkR (449) = (449)
At 31 December 2012 and 1 R-E——F
January 2013 +-A=+—HK
—T—=F—HF—H (2,732) (555) (3,287)
Charge for the year FAHBR (449) - (449)
At 31 December 2013 RZT—=4F
+=A=+—8 (3,181) (555) (3,736)
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2013 RIE—=14
F=E=T—=E 412 - 412
At 31 December 2012 N_E—=—F
+=-A=+—8 861 - 861

The above customer relationship and patents were acquired
through a business combination in 2006.

XEEHEBA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013

19.

20.

BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

The above intangible assets have finite useful lives and are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the following periods
from the acquisition date:

Customer relationship 8 years
Patents 4 years

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

19. BILEE(E)
ratEREEASETOAERER WA
EESER B IS B ERAE ST T 51 HART P g

EEHE 8%
%7 4%

20. JHHERE

31 December
2013
==
t=-—HA=1t—8
RMB'000
ARBT T

Unlisted investment: FEETIRE
— Limited partnership —HBRAEEAR 65,421

On 18 November 2013, the Group has invested
HK$83,000,000 (approximately RMB65,421,000) in First
Capital Automotive Component Industry M&A Fund L.P.
(the “Partnership”), an exempted limited partnership
established in the Cayman Islands principally engaging
in making investments in and carrying out consolidations
and mergers and acquisitions of automotive component
business and assets in the PRC and overseas. The initial
size of fund managed by the Partnership amounting to
HK$200 million.

The investment is measured at cost less impairment
at the end of the reporting period because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the fair
values cannot be measured reliably.
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AEBRZ_ZT—=F+—A+/\HM
First Capital Automotive Component
Industry M&A Fund LP.(TAEBRAF)TE
83,000,0007% 7T (49 A R #65,421,0007T)
ZATIRRASHEN I  BRREREME
BRRE FEEBANPERGIMNEE
mERMBRETHHEBNEE - 68 A
RIFTERE S 1) K4 /3200,000,0007
IT o

HERANRE WA TG E -
BE AL RAFAEEEBEFEEN AT
R RE -



21. GOODWILL

21. 58

RMB’000
ARETFIT
COST Py
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 and 2013 RZZE—=—F—F—H -ZF—=FK
—ET—=F+-A=+—H 29,655
IMPAIRMENT wE
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 and 2013 RZE——F—HA—H ZZE—=FK
—E—=F+=ZA=+—H =
CARRYING VALUES RHEE
At 31 December 2012 and 2013 RZE—ZFRZE—=F+=A
=+—H 29,655

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has
been allocated to one PRC subsidiary which engages
in manufacturing of automobile shock absorber and
suspension system products.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the
management determines that there is no impairment of the
CGU containing goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. The calculation uses
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period. The CGU’s cash
flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady 2.7% (2012: 2.7%) growth rate. This growth rate is
based on the relevant industry long-term growth rate in the
jurisdiction the CGU operates. The discount rate applied is
14.51% (2012: 13.68%).

Key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is
based on the CGU's past performance and management'’s
expectations for the market development. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of
the CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of the CGU.

RETRENR  BEIEE -RUERE
MERRSE R B RERERNPEME AT

BE_Z—=F+_A=+—RILFE &
BEERR BERENRSELSMILER
&

ReELBEMMAIKESENREEREER
AEAEE c ZFTEAFERARESRERA
IR & 7 = T8 R B E A B 18 B FTiit /& B 56 HA
HISTEE A - MBS F MRS EEEN
MRS RERBA27%(ZE——%F :27%)
MIBETHREHESE - ZREREERECE
EBMEEMTEN e ERRNBBITENR
R ERBE - FTERMAIEXRAE1451%
(ZE——%:1368%) °

EREEAEENIEBRRIRRERA
MHEREE  EhERREHEERER
. B RERNYRASELEMBEE
RENEEEHTSERNERSL - €12
BRA  EMARRKNETMAESEE
TEEIRSELEUNEHSEBERS
EL BN ESHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

22. DEFERRED TAXATION 22 BRI

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets:

AT RIEERIAEEN DT -

Allowance Provision for

for obsolete or
doubtful slow-moving
debts inventories Total
PRE SN
REREBE FERE et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREET T ARET T ARHEETTT
At 1 January 2012 RZZE——F—HA—H 1,061 1,846 2,907
Charge to profit or loss (Note 12) REzEEHA(ME12) 900 - 900
At 31 December 2012 and 2013 RZZE—Z—FK
—T—=F
+-A=+— 1,961 1,846 3,807

The Group had unrecognised tax losses as follows:

REBAREROBIARRINT

RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2012 R-E——F—H—H 6,585
Utilisation A (260)
Addition NE 292
At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 RZE——F+-_A=+—HK
—T—=%—H—H 6,617
Reduction upon deregistration of a PRC — [P BT & A R EUH R R
subsidiary (5,726)
Addition NE 7,290
At 31 December 2013 R-_Z—=%F+-A=+—H 8,181

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of unrecognised tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profits streams. As at 31 December 2013, the tax
losses of RMB2,558,000 (2012: RMB6,588,000) will expire
up to 2018 (2012: 2017). The Group has no other significant
unprovided deferred tax for the year ended 31 December
2012 and 2013.

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
that are received by non-PRC resident entities from 1
January 2008 onwards. At 31 December 2013, deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of Nanyang Cijan
amounting to RMB100,222,000 (2012: RMB50,695,000) as
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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23.INVENTORIES 23. 78
2013 2012
—E-=F —FT——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Raw materials R 15,472 11,880
Work-in-progress b 9,526 4,338
Finished goods BIRK G 58,834 63,330
83,832 79,548
24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. E5 R HMEWFIE
Trade and other receivables comprise the following: B REMEWTBESIEATEE :

2013 2012
—E-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Trade receivables B Sl EaE 278,833 211,452
Less: allowance for doubtful trade debts o B SRR (13,074) (13,074)
265,759 198,378
Bills receivables e ZE 14,000 12,407
Other receivables (note a) HAib U FRIB (K ita) 28,684 28,5660
Less: allowance for doubtful other debts B H A REREE (7,137) (5,117)
21,547 23,443
Value-added tax recoverable 1% {E A] Yy [B] R IB 2,068 1,638
Advances to suppliers ) {4 8 P 24 3% 4,042 4,492
307,416 240,358

Less: trade receivables shown under B TR IERBIEE T HY
non-current assets (note b) B S REWGRIE (H1i2b) - (10,053)

Total trade and other receivables shown SRR EEEE NNE S &
under current assets H o pE W R IE A R 307,416 230,305

Notes:

a. Included in the balance is (i) an amount of approximately a.
RMB570,000 (2012: RMB4,800,000), net of allowance for doubtful

wiiz -

RIEREARBIE() R HE TR MR —2FE =
F RS, FAERIBH A R#570,0007T (=

T— 4 : AR¥4,800,0007T) @ HFREAMR
IRBEARKES, 117,000 (—T——F : AR
#5,117,000) : (i)gt EABIERRAE T — B EEA
TEBERNZ S ARK6,930,000T (=2 ——=
& AR¥8,950,0007T) * K E A RIREE
AR#2,020,0007C( =2 — =4 : |) : K&iiii)
HEBMEIRBR « I FHAFHEBRES
ke ARE THEMNRBEERNES @ Z
EERTEIRNRESARE T =MARKE -

other debts of RMB5,117,000 (2012: RMB5,117,000), representing
service/rental receivable in respect of storage and machineries
from a third party; (i) RMB6,930,000(2012: RMB8,950,000), net
of allowance for doubtful other debts of RMB2,020,000 (2012:
nil) deposits to a creditor as security for other borrowings; and (iii)
balances comprise of employees’ travel advances, deposits paid
to local tax authorities, rental deposits and certain prepayments,
all of which are expected to be recovered within twelve months
after the end of reporting period.

FEEREBERRERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 24. EZ R HMBEWRIE(E)

Notes: (Cont’d) Miat : (48)

b.  The Group generally allows a credit period of 90 days to its trade b. REB—RETEESHEFIOXRNEERH -
customers with exception to certain strategic customers that the EREEZE—=F+_A=+—HILFE -
Group extended one-off credit terms to 18 to 24 months during AEERETERMEE,P—AULEREESRE
the year ended 31 December 2013. The respective outstanding 18E24ME A - TEHAHE MRS BiREFT 1218 A
amounts expected to be received after twelve months from the BB ARSREESENBIERBEE -
end of reporting period are presented as non-current assets and WABBRFERGF6A4%IEEHKANGTH - K
measured at amortised cost at an effective interest rate of 6.4% SEBAMZEERFETAERR -
per annum. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The ageing of trade receivables presented based on invoice RHRZEAH(EBERREBHEE) 200 E

date (also approximate to the date of revenue recognition), SEWRIA CRARBREE) MR AT

net of allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

2013 2012
—E-=F —ET——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
0 to 90 days 0E90K 240,035 172,678
91 to 180 days 91E180K 15,671 15,647
181 to 365 days 181E365K - 10,053
1to 2 years —EMF 10,053 -
265,759 198,378
Movement in the allowance for doubtful trade debts: B RIRBEZSHT
2013 2012
—B-—=fF —ET——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Beginning balance FHERR 13,074 7,318
Addition 3 - 6,000
Reversal of allowance for doubtful trade B 5 REREERD
debts - (244)
Ending balance FRERR 13,074 13,074
Before accepting any new customer, the Group has EEMETMFHELR  AEBDHEERF
assessed the potential customer’s credit quality and HMEEEEETIE  TiREREESTES
defined credit limit to each customer on individual basis. ZEPHEERHEE  c ABRTPHEREeEE
Limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a year. s —IK o
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the
Group considers any change in the credit quality of the
trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted
up to the end of the reporting period and no impairment is
necessary for those balances which are not past due.

At 31 December 2013, included in the Group's trade
receivable balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately RMB15,671,000 (2012:
RMB15,647,000), which are past due for which the Group
has not provided for impairment loss as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and amounts are
still considered recoverable based on repayment history
of respective customer. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

24. ES5 R EMBEWRIEE)

PORTEE 5 UG IR AT E Ry - AN S [E]
ERERMELEEZRAREERENRE
HENFENEEERNEMNEE - MR8
HW AR EAERE -

R-T—=F+-"A=+—0  #AEFEEEY
ARM15,671,000/t(ZZE—=F : AR
15,647,0007T) (IEBT AR EE K E 5 EI
FIEAS  MZERUERREEH - HER
FEEERTEEAESRBEEBEFER
R REREDWAATYE - Bt - K
EEW AR ZEREHRBERBEE - &
EEBARRZEEBRITE TWIERS -

EEHERRENE S YRR

2013 2012

—EB-=fF —ET——HF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETTT

91 to 180 days 91E 180Kk 15,671 15,647

Bills receivables represent banker’'s acceptances (“banker’s
acceptances”), i.e. time drafts accepted and guaranteed
for payment by banks in the PRC. Those banks accepting
the banker’s acceptances, which are state-owned banks
or commercial banks in the PRC (the “PRC Banks"), are
the primary obligors for payment on the due date of such
banker’s acceptances. The Group accepts the settlement of
trade receivables by customers using banker’s acceptances
accepted by the PRC Banks on a case by case basis.

The ageing of bills receivables, presented based on receipt
date, is as follows:

EWEBERT AL ER ([RITELE
£1)  ARBRRITHRNRAEL R ER
ZEHER - ZERXBITALER 2R1T
APEBEARITHEERT(HERT))
THRRITEALERZEHARETEEAXMN
A o REBIRE IR X 5P £ AT B
TR ZBITELERENE S EEER -

FEWEE MR IE A B2 5120

2013 2012

—E—=5 —E——F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBT T

0 to 90 days 0£90K 14,000 12,407

FEEREBERRERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

25.RESTRICTED BANK BALANCES/BANK 25 ZR#EIRITHEE RITEKERS

BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from RITHEBFHNENT036%E05%(=ZF
0.35% to 0.5% (31 December 2012: 0.40% to 0.50%) per ——F+ZA=+—H :040%%E050%) °

annum.

Restricted bank balances, carrying interest at market rates FRENF28%E33%(ZE——F+=A1
ranging from 2.8% to 3.3% (31 December 2012: 3.25% =+—H : 3.25%%3.30%) X R HIRITA
to 3.30%) per annum, represent amounts deposited g BIFRRRITIERENZEBERAR 22
with banks as pledge for the bills payable with an original B ZENERDETTHERNEBERM
maturity of three to six months issued to suppliers for the & REREBEA==/"@EA -

purchase of raw materials.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EZ R HMENRIE

Trade and other payables comprise the following: E 5 RAMBENFIBREATEIE
2013 2012
—E-=5 —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFT
Trade payables 2B SN FRIA 205,218 188,488
Bills payables ERTRIR 74,700 60,350
279,918 248,838
Other payables E 58 5,706 5,178
Other payables to employees (note) E A fE E B I RIB (A7) 1,588 2,186
Other tax payable HAth T FIE 18,268 12,088
Other accruals HibpEsT & A 11,168 4,287
Payroll and welfare payables FERTIE KAz 8,938 8,080
325,586 280,657

Less: Amount shown under non-current B FIRRIERBAE T

liabilities X ] (1,048) (1,496)

Total trade and other payables shown under 3 RRRBEE FHE S K&
current liabilities H A fE IR 324,538 279,161
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables
presented based on invoice date at the end of the reporting

26. E5 R EMENRIEE)

AT RRHREHRNE S RNFIRLREER

HZ2DIBRE DT

periods:
2013 2012
—E-=5F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARBFIT
Within 90 days SN 177,358 163,634
91-180 days 91E 180K 24,922 20,799
181-365 days 1812365k 1,135 2,197
1-2 years —ZEMF 1,803 1,858
205,218 188,488

The following is an ageing analysis of bills payables,

AT ARREMRIZETEMEINENR

presented based on issuance date at the end of each BRI -
reporting period:

2013 2012
—E-=F —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBF T ARBFT
Within 30 days 30RA - 11,980
31 to 60 days 31E60KA 24,700 19,170
61 to 90 days 61E90KK - 29,200
91 to 180 days 91E180K A 50,000 -
74,700 60,350

Trade payables and bills payables principally comprise
amounts outstanding for purchase of materials. The
average credit period for purchase of goods is 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that sufficient financial resources are maintained to
meet its financial obligation as they fall due.

BHRNFRBERENREIZREEEMH
AR - BEERWFEEEH R0
X AEEEREMBRAREEBRERSE
Fr 7t = MR 75 B TR A B B 75 B AR B HAR &Y

ZZ.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d) 26. EZ R HMEARIEE)

Note: Other payables to employees are interest-free and the Wit - B EN TRENREBEASS - BZEBEEE
settlement of the obligations is estimated to occur through FEEBE—T o RFHEEERE R —=
to 2026. The payable to employee are calculated at the net FRZZF—=F+=ZA=+—8 " EFTE
present value of estimated future net cash flows of the payment BNFBERNREANGFARFRERE
obligation, discounted at 3.6% per annum at 31 December 2012 RFIREN D BIIEFF3.6% L REEIRAT
and 2013, respectively. Management has allocated the payables g o BEEEKEIGNSREBARUERK
that are expected to be settled within twelve months after the TZENEENENFESEREE - I
end of reporting period as current liabilities. No assets was A EREEZENREMERERS

legally restricted for the purposes of settling the payables.

2013 2012
—E—= —EF——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
At beginning of the year F9) 2,186 2,929
Payment (NE (726) (930)
Accretion during the year F RN 128 187
At end of the year FR 1,588 2,186

Analysed for reporting purposes: PRE BT ¢
Current liabilities mEBaE 540 690
Non-current liabilities SERBELE 1,048 1,496
1,588 2,186

27.BORROWINGS 27. &

2013 2012
—E—=5F —T——fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREET T
Bank borrowings RITER 423,860 309,000
Entrusted loans (note) LZEERMEE) - 30,000
Other borrowing E A&k 6,936 7,153
430,796 346,153
Unsecured 4RI 15 286,936 237,153
Secured BHEA 143,860 109,000
430,796 346,153

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013



27.BORROWINGS (Cont’d) 27. &R (E)

At 31 December 2013, all borrowings are denominated in R-E—=F+_A=+—H  FraEZYH
RMB except for RMB6,936,000 (2012: RMB7,153,000) AARBEGHE - HEHEMIERAKH6,936,000
other borrowing was denominated in HK$. The contractual TT(ZE—ZF :« AR¥7,153,0007T) A LAE
maturity dates are as follows: TCEHME c AXEIEIRAT
2013 2012
—E-=fF —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEF T
Within one year —FN 295,593 272,153
More than one year, but not exceeding two a8 — {8818 /I F
years 36,641 38,000
More than two years, but not exceeding BAMEETNHBBASF
five years 98,562 36,000
430,796 346,153
Less: Amounts due for settlement within & : ZBR12{E A REERN S5
12 months (shown under current BIRRRBIEET)
liabilities) (295,593) (272,153)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities JI/RRIERBBE THI B E 135,203 74,000
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group entered W BEZFT——F+-A=+—BLEFE K
into entrusted loans arrangements with several banks to receive EEEARRTICETERTHE - U@
funding from certain specific lenders through the banks. The BIRITWIME TRERRANER - K=
balances carried fixed interest rates at Nil (2012: 8.31%) per T—=HF+-A=+—0 #HHIKRT(=ZT
annum at 31 December 2013. —Z=%F : 8.31%)HEEFFETE -
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal REBEEZNERMNEX(AETEERE O
to contractual interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are )T
as follows:
2013 2012
—B—_=fF Sl—ks
Fixed-rate borrowings SR E 5.60% - 8.51% 5.60% —8.53%
per annum per annum
E=E:d (SEaS

5.60% —8.51% 5.31% —8.53%

FEEREBERRERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

27.BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

The borrowings are guaranteed and/or secured by the

27. B (&)
R A TS B AR R, SR -

following:

2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Type A - 40,000
Type B 143,860 69,000
143,860 109,000

Type A:  Borrowings are guaranteed by third parties and AfH: ERHRE=ZSFERUENAAEENE

secured by assets of the Group (note).

Type B:  Borrowings are secured by assets of the Group

(note).

Note: The Group has pledged certain assets to secure loan facilities
granted to the Group. The carrying values of the assets pledged

are as follows:

EVEEAR(MI5E) -

B : BAAKENEEFEM(HE)

Hrit - ARBCERETEEUNSAKRBEERNE
FBREERER - DEMEENREEDNT

2013 2012

—B-=F =

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KR 75,048 38,546
Land use rights 64,201 88,881
Trade receivables - 93,153
139,249 220,580
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28. DEFERRED INCOME

28. IEIEUA

Note a Note b Total

Mizta MizEb #st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARETT AREETTT

At 1 January 2012 RNZE——F—HF—H 3,340 7,270 10,610

Addition N - 825 825

Credit to profit or loss FrAE= (348) (1,827) (2,175)
At 31 December 2012 and R-ZZE——%+=-H

1 January 2013 =F—HER

—E—=%—H—H 2,992 6,268 9,260

Credit to profit or loss FrAE= (348) (834) (1,182)
At 31 December 2013 R-_ZT—=%+—_AH

=+—H 2,644 5,434 8,078

Analysed for reporting purposes as: FEIRE B O

2013 2012

—E-=F —FTZF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Current liabilities* mENEE* 865 928

Non-current liabilities FERBERE 7,213 8,332

8,078 9,260

*

The carrying amount of deferred income designated for
expenditure which is expected to be released to profit or loss in

the next twelve months is classified as current.

Notes:

a. The grant represents an amount of RMB4,200,000 designated

for the expenditure on development of the recycling and purifying
facilities received in 2009 which was deferred and are credited to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives
of the related assets.

Grants received in relation to acquisition of certain plant and
equipment and were recorded as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and are credited to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives
of the related assets.

* o FRERRRR+ —{E A A AR EVIEE BRI
HMIRERAREER D BRRB AR -

Hrat -

a. MAPERZZTTAFREN AR4,200,000
TUAEEE R B B LR e Y - B
EERAHBEEENTBERAFENIZERE

#Ft AR -

b. ZBIIHBESE THE MR EmUEER - WHE
FAMISIRER R ARRIERERA KA HEREE
BEMNRIERFHNREREREF AR -

FEEREBERRERERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

29. PROVISIONS 29. &5

Warranty
provision
wRIGEBE
RMB’000
ARBFIT
(note i)
(Kiati)
At 1 January 2012 R-_E——F—H—H 7,628
Additions N 8,787
Utilisations Bl (8,961)

At 31 December 2012 and 1 January 2013 W—ZE—=—F+=-_A=+—H8k
—ET—=%—HF—H 7,454
Additions 30 10,666
Utilisations £l (10,620)
At 31 December 2013 R-_EBE—=F+-A=+—H 7,500

Note:  The warranty provision represents management’s best Bt :  REEBREETEEYHAEEMEDIBH
estimate of the Group's liability under an average warranty R MERISHMEAENEETNRE
period of two years granted on products, based on prior st WABEEHMREERNER S

experience for defective products. X

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. 7K
Number of

shares  Share capital
BRE &S
HK$
BT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

FIEEO.ETTH E B

Authorised: JETE
At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 R=ZT—=—F—H—H"
and 2013 —EZFRZIT-=F
+=—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER

At 1 January 2012 and

RZBE——F—A—HK

31 December 2012 —T-—F+-A=t—H8 320,000,000 32,000,000
Issue of shares (note) BT (HT7E) 64,000,000 6,400,000
At 31 December 2013 RZZ—=%+=-A=+—H 384,000,000 38,400,000
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30.

31.

32.

SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

30. RA(4Z)

2013 2012
—EB-=fF —ET——4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT
Share capital presented in consolidated R A IS AOR R IR Z IR AR
statement of financial position 31,318 26,217

Note: On 22 May 2013, 64,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each of
the Company, amounting to HK$6,400,000 (approximately
RMB5,101,000), were issued at HK$1.30 per share by way of
placing. The new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares
in all aspects.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The minimum lease payment under operating lease in
respect of office premises amounted to RMB2,500,000
(2012: RMB2,560,000) for the year ended 31 December
2013.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

31.

Wi - R—_E—=ZFFA-+=-8 ARQ7A
64,000,000 8 & R A E0.10%8 T (& #
6,400,000/ 7T (£ AR #5,101,0007T ) ) &
Bfn - BBAESRTR1.30BITHER%
1T FRMERERNES HFEHZERSE
HEF) o

K ERE

AEEEBEEA
HE—_Z—=F+-_RA=+—HI=EE "
BEESEHERRIDENSKEBENK
BAREE2,500,000(ZT—=4F : AR
2,560,0007T) °

RBERR - AEERBEAAIHELEHEE
BARREE M BORIERN D BIE R T

2013 2012

—E-=F —E——F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARBFIT

Within one year —FR 1,985 1,887

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the
Group for certain office premises. Leases are negotiated
for original terms of 1 to 2 years with fixed rental.

REMENFEAKERETHIENEE
RHeiie - HERI 225 BEE RAETEE
EFtHE -

OTHER COMMITMENTS 32, HAthAiE
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBFIT
Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition UEERE M a3 E AN
of plant and machinery and construction R RREER AR
costs
— Contracted for but not provided in the — BRI RMERRERE M1
consolidated financial statements R 27,944 13,354

FEEREBERRERERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

33.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other
members of key management during the year ended 31
December 2012 and 2013 were as follows:

33.

R LIE

TEEE AR
REBEE-_ZT——FR-_ZT—=F+=A
=t+—HLEFE ESREMFTEEEAS
RIF AT -

2013 2012
—2-=F e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Short-term benefits EHIREA 4,634 4,450
Post-employment benefits RUKAET 49 48
4,683 4,498
34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 34. RIRERIFHE

35.

The employees of the Group are members of state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Company's subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

As 31 December 2013, the Company has the following
indirectly held, unless otherwise stated, subsidiaries:

35.

AREEER ST EBRFEFENBEZRKEE
RARBANGFEINKE - ARARMERRAR
TEKRARNET A DL RERKRENE SR
IR ES - ARBERKEN 8
ME— B ERIELEIA T AREHRR -

Lop PN
R-ZB—=F+-"RA=+—8 K3¥k5E6/F
B ARRIBEEUATHERENHMBAR

Place and date of Issued and fully Effective equity
incorporation/ paid share/ interest attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital to the Group Principal activities Legal form
HRAL/ A BRARMR REEERER
WEAREHE ZHERAH B/ ERRE RAER ITER EEFA
2013 2012
Z§-zf -—T--
Merit leader British Virgin Islands US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
10 March 2012 50,000%7  (directly)  (diecty) REER company
EERIHE (E8) (B%) HABRAR
“Z-—F=A+H
Guang Da Automotive Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
RRERTH 14 Jung 2012 187 RARR company
&b HABRAR
“E-—FRATEA
First Bridge Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100% nfa  Investment holding Private limited liability
7 November 2013 1% TER  RAEK company
EERIHE HABRAT
Z3-=E+-AtA

Annual Report 2013

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited



35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

35. B A RFE(E)

Place and date of Issued and fully Effective equity
incorporation/ paid share/  interest attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital to the Group Principal activities Legal form
HRRL/ R BRARAR AEEREER
WEARER ZHERAH 1,/ ERRE ey TEEH EERA
2013 2012
ZE-CE “3--F
Nanyang Cijan Auto Shock PRC HK$170,000,000 100% 100%  Research, development  Foreign invested limited
Absorber Company Limited 23 June 2005 170884 and manufacture liability company
B R RRER AR e of automobile NEREBRAA
ZEZRERACTEA shock absorber and
suspension system
products
e REERERERR
BRZGER
Haikou Danjiang Auto Shock PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Not yet commenced Domestic limited liability
Absorber Company Limited 20 March 2006 AREIEET business company
("Haikou Danjiang"|*** i WARGES EIRARAT]
BONIAERRRERAR 2, 5=A=1A
('gaRLl)
Nanyang Ying Saite Vehicle PRC RMB5,000,000 Nil 100%  Trading of shock Domestic limited liability
Shock Absorber Company 19 March 2007 ARESEET (note) absorber and related company
Limited ("Ying Saite")*** i components BRERAR
HEAERERAERERAA “ERLEZATNA (HtzE) BEHRER
([5E%)) RETHH
Way Assauto Srl Italy Euro10,000 100% 100%  Research, development  Private limited liability
EATIRRLE 21 June 2012%* 10,0080 of automobile shock ~ company
EAM absorberproducts  FLABRAR
—B—C5E5R RERRBERTE
i =l
Ordos City Xijian Auto PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Research, development  Domestic limited liability
Shock Absorber Company 14 August 2013 AR10,000,0007 and manufacture company
Limited*** s of automobile ARARAR
@SR TR AR —F—=£)\RtMA shock absorber and
BRAF suspension system
products
HEREETERRER
* Nanyang Cijan exercised effective control over Haikou Danjiang @ FARS W B8 O AT B HILA KR % 38 BL

through contractual agreements with two individuals equity
holders of Haikou Danjiang since the date of establishment of
Haikou Danjiang up to 28 September 2012, the date Nanyang
Cijan obtained the legal ownership of Haikou Danjiang from the
two individual equity holders.

L In January 2013, Nanyang Cijan acquired total equity interest in
Way Assauto Srl for Euro10,000 from a third party. The details of
the acquisition is set out in Note 36.

* %

AT R (BB R B ART LA & 40 b %
HEAMTHARRZNE B2 —F——
FhA=+/\B (AR ATR A F & (& 51 A
BFEABISEAM TR EERARER) ©

RZT—=F—F ' mEHRELA10,000E T
M) 55 = 75 Wi Way Assauto SrlZ ZBA%HE
ZIEUIEH B HI5E36 ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2013
BE—F—=FF+_A=+—HIFFZF

35. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 35. MiB A TFHE(E)

** %X

The English name is the unofficial translation of respective
Chinese name and is for identification purposes only.

Note: The company was deregistered during the year ended 31
December 2013.

None of the above subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities during the years or at the end of reporting period.

36. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 4 January 2012, the Group acquired 100% of equity
interest in Autoparti Asti Srl (immediately following the
acquisition the company name was changed to “Way
Assauto Srl”) for a cash consideration of Euro 10,000
(equivalent to RMB80,486) from an independent third party.

On the date of acquisition, Way Assauto Srl had not carried
out any significant operations. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the above acquisition did not constitute
a business combination in accordance with HKFRS 3
“Business Combination” and as such, the acquisition has
been accounted for as an acquisition of assets through
acquisition of a subsidiary.

Assets and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition
are as follows:

36.

* ¥ %

R LR AAET X ABHEE &S - &
HERIAE -

Mt BRARBE-F-=F+=A=+—AL
RS EER -

RERRFERR - LAMNERRBEETT
EEBES

W2 B Ff B8 8 =)

R-_ZT——F—AWA  AEERBLE
= 75 U B Autoparti Asti Srl ( ERE UL BE % -
Z A7 5% A Way Assauto Srl ) » R{EBA
10,0008% T (FHHE R AE#80,4867T) °

RUEE B HE - Way Assauto Sridf 1T
BARER - ARFESERALMWELTE
BARIE B I S X R S35k [ £ A 6T
MAEBEH Bt ZBEWBARAER
I EEKT B A RN EE -

RUE ARz EERBEMT ¢

RMB'000
ARBFIT
Net assets recognised: R EEFE
Deposit for acquisition of equipment Wi ke 499
Other receivables Hh FEUGRIE 2,538
Bank balances RITHERR 875
Other payables HAb R FRIA (3,832)
80
Satisfied by: ATEA R -
Cash consideration paid EfEERE 80
Net cash inflow on acquisition of Way W EEWay Assauto SrlZ
Assauto Srl: WEMAFHE
Cash consideration paid ENBRERE (80)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents balances B BAZBR e KR eSEDEH
acquired 875
795

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013



37.

38.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the Company’s
special general meeting held on 19 October 2012, the
Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) which will remain in force for a period of 10
years from the date of its adoption. Details of the Scheme
are set out in section titled ‘'Share Option Scheme' in the
annual reports.

During the year ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, no
share options were granted under the Scheme by the
Company. In addition, as of 31 December 2013 and 2012,
no share options under the Scheme were outstanding.

37. BRERE

RER-F-—ZFTATHBRITZARF
BRRENASEBZERBRAR AR
HERRM—EERE B ([Z8)) - AR
MAHEFERH T F - L EFBERA
FIRBAAERT S 6 -

BHE-_ZT—=FR-_F——-F+-A=1+—
HILFE @ AARMERBZ TSR LER
o R-E—=FER - FT——F+—
A=+—H  &ZteETHEMNRITECE
A o

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE 8. AN A HMKER
COMPANY
2013 2012
—B-=F —F=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBFIT
Investment in a unlisted subsidiary R—RZELMHBARAIEE 65,751 73,939
Amount due from a subsidiary (note a) FEU— M B R B RIB (H7ta) 127,611 58,384
Bank balances and cash RITHERNIRE 88 1,817
Trade and other payables B 5 K HA R A (2,259) (2,919)
Amount due to a subsidiary (note a) FES — B A R IB (A ita) (9,374) (6,153)
NET ASSETS EEZRE 181,817 125,068
OWNER'’S EQUITY BB AER
Share capital [N 31,318 26,217
Reserves (note b) (M atb) 150,499 98,851
TOTAL OWNER'S EQUITY BEAEREEE 181,817 125,068

Notes:

a. The balances are interest free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

b. Reserves comprise share premium of RMB186,462,000 (2012:
RMB125,271,000) and accumulated losses of RMB35,963,000
(2012: RMB26,420,000).

pit -

a. %EEHR/RE - EERNARERER -

b. REERERNMREARS 1864620007 (=
T——4F: ARK¥125,271,00070) & Rt
BARKS35,963,000L(=F—=F : AR
26,420,0007T) ©
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Glossary
)

In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor’s
Report and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise
requires, the following expression shall have the following
meanings:

"12th Five-Year Plan” the Twelfth Five-Year Plan for the National
Economic and Social Development

2013 Financial Year” for the financial year ended 31 December 2013

"AGM” the annual general meeting of the Company

“Articles” or "Articles of  the Articles of Association of the Company, as
Association” amended from time to time

“Automobile Aftermarket” the secondary market of the automobile industry,
concerned with the manufacturing, remanufacturing,
distribution, retailing and installation of vehicle
parts equipment and accessories after the sale of
automobile by the original equipment manufacturer
to the consumers

"Beijing Automobile” Beijing Automobile Works Co., Ltd (Jb ;988 8k
WA A7), our customer, an Independent Third

Party
“Board" the board of Directors
“BVI" the British Virgin Islands

“Changan Automobile”  Chongging Changan Automobile Co., Ltd (EE &%
BRI ER AT, our customer, an Independent
Third Party

“Chery" Chery Automobile Co., Ltd (3 /SERMDABR A,
our customer, an Independent Third Party

"Chongging Lifan” Chongaing Lifan Passenger Vehicle Co., Ltd. (EfE
HMMFEBBEARAF), our customer, an Independent
Third Party

“Company” China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings

Limited (FEEHZHARRERBERAF), an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2013
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"Director(s)”

"Dongfeng Automobile”

"Dongfeng Peugeot”

"FAW-Volkswagen”

“Geely"

"Group”

"Haima Auto”

“INED(s)"

“Jianghuai Automobile”

“King Win"

“Listing Date”

“Listing Rules”

"Model Code”

“Nanyang Cijan"

the director(s) of the Company

Dongfeng Automobile Co., Ltd. (RELSERN AR
/X&), our customer, an Independent Third Party

Dongfeng Peugeot Citroen Automobile Company
Ltd (& /5EHR D), our customer, an
Independent Third Party

FAW-Volkswagen Automobile Company Ltd (—5
REFBARAF), our customer, an Independent
Third Party

Zhejiang Geely Automobile Parts and Components
Purchase Limited (T & A} E T HHEERAE),
our customer, an Independent Third Party

the Company and its subsidiaries

FAW Haima Automobile Co., Ltd. (—/5/85/58E
BR2&]), our customer, an Independent Third Party

the independent non-executive Directors

Anhui Jianghuai Automobile Co., Ltd (Z#UT 75
IR EIR AT, our customer, an Independent Third
Party

King Win Capital Limited (2R EEBR AT, a
company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability on 1 July 2010, a Shareholder and is owned
as to 50% by Xie Qingxi (#BZ) (a non-executive
Director)

23 November 2011

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers

Nanyang Cijan Auto Shock Absorber Co., Ltd. (g
BATR S ERIRE AR A F) (formerly known as
Nanyang Jinguan Auto Shock Absorber Co., Ltd
(ffFem R ERREERAF)), a wholly foreign
owned enterprise established in the PRC on 23 June
2005 and one of our wholly-owned subsidiaries

[B%]

[RETE]

[RERE]

[—1TAR]

(&)

[REE]

[B5RE]

BV IFHTES]

[DEAE]

[ LR

[ EmRAll
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[EEE AR )

#H ARAEZ

B REAZBRNHBERRA - &M
EF BUE=)

B OBEAEARAF RMANEK
P BYE=)

B ONIENAESHRRBARA
A BPNER  BUE=)

# ARAREMBAR

¥ —ABSAEARAR  HMM
BE BUF=H

B BEIFIESR

B RBDEAERNERRF %
MnEF  BUE=7

B EBREFRAR —HR-F
—ERELA-RAERBRLES
EMRINEREERE - B
RRE#HEECHRTES)RE
50%

¥ —E——%+-A-1=H

B BRmEsLImRA

 EREAARBRAEERHN
k]

B AR AERRSERA
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Glossary
)

“OEM Market”

“Plenty Venture”

“PRC" or “China"

"Prospectus”

“RMB”

"SAIC Motor”

“SFO”"

“Share Option Scheme”

“Shareholder(s)"”

“Shares”

“Stock Exchange”

"Wealth Max"

Annual Report 2013

the automobile market of original automobile
manufacturers

Plenty Venture Holdings Limited (&RIZME R
NE]), a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liability on 1 July 2010, a Shareholder and is
respectively owned as t0 63.93% by Zhao Zhijun (&
) (an executive Director), 5.48% by Liu Baojun
(BI/RE), 4.57% by Zhao Zeng (1), 4.57% by
Wang Wenbo (EXK) (an executive Director),
4.57% by Chu Xinyao (##778), 4.57% by Liu
Yonghong (217K 4T), 4.57% by Zhu Zihua (kB %),
4.11% by Liu Jinyong (8£3k), and 3.65% by Yang
Weixia (153 E) (an executive Director), all being the
Senior Management

the People’s Republic of China which excludes
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 November
20M1

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

SAIC Motor Corporation Limited (/855 &= Bk
ABBAF), our customer, an Independent Third
Party

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the laws of Hong Kong)

the share option scheme adopted by the Company
pursuant to the written resolutions of the
Shareholders of the Company passed on 19 October
20M1

the holder(s) of the Share(s)

the ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.10 each

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Wealth Max Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on 12
July 2010, our Controlling Shareholder and is wholly
beneficially owned by Mr. Wilson Sea (formerly
known as Mr. Xi Chunying)

China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings Limited
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